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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FEBEUARERE AN RE D

On behalf of the board (the “Board”
(the”Directors”) of Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding

) of directors

Limited (the”Company”), | am pleased to present the annual
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

OVERALL REVIEW

In 2024, the Group recorded a revenue of HK$1,805,382,000
(2023: HK$1,830,186,000) and a gross profit of
HK$476,703,000 (2023: HK$567,574,000). The Group
recorded a profit for the year of HK$56,010,000 (2023:
HK$162,209,000) which is mainly due to challenges faced by
the subsidiary in the United States (“USA subsidiary”) during
the implementation of the new NetSuite enterprise resource
planning system (“ERP system”), which impacted production
and deliveries in the first half of the year. In addition, the
continued increase in global production costs led to a year-on-
year decrease in the Group’s annual gross profit.

With the completion of the ERP system adaptation and the
full implementation of the Blue Marlin project at the USA
subsidiary, the Group’s production delivery capacity was
restored in the second half of the year. The order deliveries for
business in the United States in the second half of the year
exceeded those of the same period last year. Looking forward,
the Board believes that the order volumes of the Group are
sufficient, and the improvement in the production efficiency
will strengthen overall operational quality and maintain stable
growth in business results.

Basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to HK0.60 cent (2023: HK1.74 cents). The return on
equity for the year ended 31 December 2024, calculated on
the basis of profit attributable to owners of the Company as a
percentage of equity attributable to owners of the Company,
was 1.9% (2023: 5.4%).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the Group has only one reportable operating
segment, the general aviation aircraft piston engine business,
which engages in the design, development and production of
general aviation aircraft piston engines and spare parts as well
as the provision of aftermarket services and support for piston
engines.

At the start of 2024, many economists predicted a significant
economic slowdown, with expectations of either a “soft
landing” or a potential recession. Now, with the benefit of
hindsight, the global economy endured a year of uncertainty
and transformative shifts including persistent energy market
volatility and expanded capabilities of artificial intelligence
leading to unpredictable and dynamic global economic trends.
Despite these challenges, through strategic adaptability
and operational agility, the Group successfully navigated
macroeconomic and industry-specific challenges and positioned

itself for continued growth and innovation.

Despite global economic uncertainties, the General Aviation
("GA") market has shown strong growth in aircraft shipments.
The General Aviation Manufacturer’s Association’s data reflects
that nearly all aircraft segments saw increases in shipments in
2024. Total aircraft deliveries were valued at US$31.2 billion,
representing a 13.3% increase over 2023 with the volume of
total piston airplane shipped reaching 1,772, which represents
a 4.2% increase over 2023.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREUREEE w1

During the year 2024, the Group has accomplished the
following key achievements:

° New ERP System

In 2024, the Group successfully implemented a new
ERP system in the USA subsidiary, marking a significant
milestone in streamlining operations and enhancing
efficiency. As with most ERP system transitions, the
implementation presented complex challenges, including
system integration, data migration, and process
alignment. Initial challenges resulted in temporary
slowdowns in key operational areas, including supply
chain, inventory management, and daily workflows,
impacting deliveries, and ultimately revenue and profits
during the first half of the year.

Thereafter, the Group persevered through the challenges
and obtained alignment between the ERP system and
its business processes and infrastructure leading to
stabilized operations and improved performance.

° Manufacturing Automation

Building on the successful completion of Blue Marlin
project, the USA subsidiary installed two new crankcase
machining centers and the Pre-Production Approval
Process is now completed. Meanwhile, a subsidiary
in Germany installed two computerized numerically
controlled milling centers, an optical cam measuring
device, a numeric controlled sealing station, a gearbox
press, and a new tool measuring and adjusting device to
streamline manufacturing processes.
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Research and Development

The Group submitted the helicopter-specific CD-
170R engine model certification application to the
European Union Aviation Safety Agency (“"EASA")
with the approval expected by June 2025. This Jet-A
piston engine is Full Authority Digital Engine Control
("FADEC")-controlled with a best-in-class power-
weight ratio. This engine eliminates the gearbox and
includes rotorcraft-specific software mapping, opening
opportunities for new segment applications. This
significant milestone in the Group's innovation history
expands product lines and assists in opening new market
segments of the GA industry.

Global Supply Chain Network

The Group has endured the complexities and challenges
of the geopolitical landscape and developed an
expanded global supply chain network. This strategic
effort promotes the highest standards of quality, while
optimizing lead times, and enhancing cost efficiency.
By diversifying sourcing strategies, strengthening and
adding supplier partnerships, and reinforcing operational
resilience, the Group has minimized the impact of supply
chain disruptions while supporting sustainable business
growth.
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Training Landmark

After Continental Aerospace Technologies Academy™
("Academy”) debuted during the 2024 EAA AirVenture
Oshkosh, the Academy has offered multiple levels of
aviation maintenance training for both Avgas and Jet-A
engines on-site and remotely on multiple continents
around the world. The Academy offers a comprehensive
curriculum ranging from piston engine theory to more
practical hands-on instruction and troubleshooting
processes. Courses are designed with two levels
of training for each engine type within regulatory
guidelines. Eligible participants can earn up to forty
credit hours towards the FAA's WINGS Pilot Proficiency,
AMT Awards, and/or IA Renewal programs.

There are several application highlights for the products of the

Group in the year 2024.

Cirrus Aircraft commemorated the 10,000th delivery
of its successful SR aircraft line and announced the
stunning G7 generation of the SR22 and SR22T aircraft,
which are powered by the Group’s 10-550 and TSIO-550
engines.

Tecnam Aircraft’'s P2012 Short Takeoff and Landing
aircraft, equipped with the Group’s twin GTSIO-520
engines, recently reached a pair of monumental
milestones: (1) Cross-Atlantic delivery to the Caribbean
Islands; and (2) EASA certification for steep approaches
of up to 10°, significantly expanding the aircraft’s
operability.

Piper Aircraft recently announced large fleet deals of
Archer DX aircraft, utilizing the Group’s CD-155 engines,
with different customers in Europe and South Asia.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Goodwill

The Group’s goodwill acquired through a business combination
in prior years has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
in USA ("USA CGU") and a cash-generating unit in Germany
("Germany CGU"). As at 31 December 2024, the entire
amount of the goodwill related to the Germany CGU was
HK$13,080,000 (2023: HK$13,841,000).
assessment of Germany CGU was performed with the support

The impairment

of Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,
an independent professionally qualified valuer.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
impairment loss is recognised.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets mainly consist of development programs

in progress, trademarks, product technology, licence and
completed programs, and customer relationships. As at 31
December 2024, the Group's other intangible assets were

HK$1,270,538,000 (2023: HK$1,340,863,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
impairment loss is recognised.

Investment in an associate

During the year, the Group recorded a share of loss of an
associate of HK$4,370,000 (2023: HK$4,112,000),
on deemed disposal of partial interest in an associate of
HK$10,097,000 (2023: Nil). For further details, please refer to
note 17 to the financial statement.

and gain

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses consist of salaries and wages,
product liability expenses, legal and professional expenses
and other general expenses. During the year, the Group
recorded administrative expenses of HK$296,300,000 (2023:

HK$311,185,000).
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LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has consistently maintained sufficient working
capital. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had current
assets of HK$1,785,810,000 (2023: HK$1,741,669,000),
including cash and cash equivalents and time deposits with
original maturity over three months in an aggregate of
HK$799,458,000 (2023: HK$875,280,000). The Group's current
liabilities as at 31 December 2024 were HK$478,660,000
(2023: HK$506,859,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total equity amounted
to HK$2,979,137,000 (2023: HK$2,995,461,000), comprising
issued capital of HK$930,337,000 (2023: HK$930,337,000)
and reserves of HK$2,048,800,000 (2023: HK$2,065,124,000).
The Group’s interest-bearing debts included lease liabilities
of HK$288,591,000 (2023: HK$289,348,000).
gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of the interest-bearing
debts as a percentage of total equity plus the interest-bearing
debts, was 8.8% (2023: 8.8%).

The Group's

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there are no assets pledged
to secure the Group's bank facilities.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As most of the Group’s business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the operating units, the Group’s exposure to

foreign currency risk is minimal.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group had no material acquisitions or disposals during the
current year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ENVIRONMENTAL AND REGULATORY
COMPLIANCE

Environmental protection and the effective use of natural
resources have gradually become an important concept in
modern economic growth. The Group has been keeping track
of the major trends in environmental protection around the
world and has been making an effort to integrate the concept
of environmental protection in its operations. Based on new
technology and management approach, the Group strictly
controls its environmental impact and resource usage such
that cleaner production featuring lower pollution and lower
emissions thus sustainable development can be achieved.

The Group strictly complies with all applicable laws and
regulations released by the relevant authorities which are
material to the Group. Throughout the year 2024, there was no
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had
a significant impact on the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, there were 604 (2023: 567)
employees in the Group. The employees’ wages and salaries
amounted to HK$263,077,000 (2023: HK$241,520,000) for
the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group recognises
the importance of good relationship with employees. The
Directors believe that the working environment and benefits
offered to employees have contributed to building good staff
relations and retention. The Group's remuneration policies are
formulated based on the performance of individual employees
and market conditions and are reviewed regularly. The Group
also provides other staff benefits including medical and life
insurance, and grants performance related bonuses to eligible
staff based on their performance and contributions to the
Group.
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OUTLOOK

The Group will focus on the following strategic areas to ensure
sustained growth and market leadership:

° Global Service Network

The Group has launched Project Moby, a strategic
initiative designed to expand and enhance the company’s
global service and product support network. This
project aims at strengthening support for the Group’s
aftermarket customers, ensuring that they receive top-
tier around-the-clock product support and advanced
technological training. The Group is establishing a 24/7
customer support infrastructure to provide immediate
assistance via multiple channels including phone,
online chat, email, and website. The project aims to
ensure faster resolution times with a dedicated team of
technical and customer experts.

° Product Growth

The Group is strategically expanding new GA product
segments and markets by leveraging innovative
technologies and advanced product development. The
Group holds several Supplemental Type Certificates
("STCs”) that allow the retrofit of Cessna 172, Piper
PA28, and Diamond DA40 aircraft, replacing their
conventional gasoline engines with the Group's FADEC-
controlled Jet-A engines.
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The Group continues to offer a diverse range of fuel-
injected Prime 10-370 engine models, delivering 180
to 195 horsepower to meet the evolving needs of the
GA market. Prime 10-370-DA3A2B serves as a drop-
in replacement STC for select Cessna 172 R and S
models. Additionally, this engine is available for other
STC applications, supporting various Cessna 170 and
172 aircraft installations, enhancing horsepower output
and enabling constant-speed propeller operation for
improved performance over the Group’s competition.
Looking ahead, the Group remains committed to
developing innovative technologies to extend cylinder
life and enhance engine reliability. As part of its
2025 strategic initiatives, the Group is focusing on
expanding Prime and Titan engine production to meet
growing demand while maintaining the highest industry
standards of quality and performance.

World-Class Manufacturing Advancements

The Group has implemented and will continue advancing
toward a World-Class Manufacturing ("WCM")
system. With dedicated resources and a commitment
to operational excellence, the Group continuously
strengthens its processes by fostering cross functional
collaboration to drive optimization, innovation, and
efficiency.
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The Group’s unwavering commitment to engineering
excellence, quality manufacturing, and superior customer
support will serve as the foundation for sustained growth.
By leveraging WCM principles, expanding its global service
network, and enhancing product offerings, the Group has
improved its long-term competitiveness and status as an
industry leader. With an ongoing focus on driving efficiency,
reducing costs, and maintaining the highest standards of
safety and reliability, the Group remains dedicated to delivering
cutting-edge solutions to meet the needs of its global customer
base. These efforts will propel the Group forward as the
industry leader in propulsion systems and a trusted general
aviation partner.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation
to my fellow Directors and all our staff for their support, hard
work and dedication.

By order of the Board of
Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited

Huang Yongfeng
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Yongfeng, aged 50, has been an executive Director
and a member of nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”) since January 2021 and the
chairman of the Company from 1 April 2022. He obtained
a Master degree in management engineering from Beihang
University and an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree from China Europe International Business School. Mr.
Huang is currently the general manager of AVIC Innovation
Holding Limited (“AVIC Innovation”) and the director of AVIC
K) Group Limited (“AVIC International (HK)
He previously served as the general manager, the

International (H
Group”).
deputy general manager and the general manager assistant of
AVIC International Holding Corporation (“AVIC International”),
the chairman and general manager of AVIC International
Holding (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd.,
AVIC International, the deputy general manager, the general

the general manager assistant of

manager assistant and the manager of corporate strategy
and management department of AVIC Shenzhen Company
Limited, the chairman of Castic-SMP Machinery Corp Ltd and
the board secretary of AVIC International Holdings Limited.
Further, he was also previously a chairman of FIYTA Precision
Technology Company Limited (“FIYTA Precision Technology"”)
and a director of each of China Merchants Property Operation
& Service Company Limited (formerly known as AVIC Sunda
Holding Company Limited) (“China Merchants POS"),
Rainbow Department Store Company Limited and Tianma
Microelectronics Company Limited (“Tianma”), the shares of
which are listed and traded on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
Mr. Huang has extensive experience in financial management,
investment and financing management, mergers, and
acquisitions, as well as aviation manufacturing and aviation
operation areas. He is also a chairman of three subsidiaries of
the Group.
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Ms. Jiao Yan, aged 58, has been an executive Director since
August 2021. She obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Law from
Peking University. She is currently the board secretary and the
general counsel of AVIC Innovation. Ms. Jiao previously served
as the board secretary, the general counsel, the deputy general
counsel, a director of regulations and the minister of audit and
legal department of AVIC International. She is also a director of
a subsidiary of the Group.

Mr. Yu Xiaodong, aged 52, has been an executive Director
since August 2018 and a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Chief Executive Officer from 1 April 2022.
He obtained a Master's Degree in International Trade from
University of International Business and Economics in 1997. He
previously served as the project manager of AVIC International,
the assistant general manager of AVIC International
Harbin Company* (FREREEEAR),
management vice director of the international cooperation

the operations

department of AVIC International, the organisational
performance director of the human resources department of
AVIC International, the vice general manager of the human
resources department of AVIC International and the general
manager of the auditing department of AVIC International. He
is also the director of nine subsidiaries of the Group.

*  for identification purpose only

EERLT 58 BT —F/N\ALEHR
TEF - EYIRAIRAEEZE LR
R TRETPHMBAIESTEWE B LR
e R BRETHMBEREFTENE RBER
EER Bl RER AR BB RRES AR
BHEER-BREITREEE-—BHRBLRATZ
E=x-

FREEE 52 BT /\F/N\BHME
HTEERE_T__FNA—HEEHEH
MESEMBERERBTEMBH - FRER
—NMALtEERBINEEEZABBRRE S
BREB-KBEPMEKREELCE  RHE
RIEMBELSHE - PRERRERS FERE
FEERRIME - PRERANERIRE
AR BB PR A B R &R B 4B A I
REMBEIRESEBEERE  FRETAEE
EABNBRATZES-



Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited

REMERIZERERAE
Annual Report 2024 —Z — [QEFEF 3R

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang Zhibiao, aged 51,
executive Director on 3 April 2023. He obtained a master's

has been appointed as an

degree in business administration from Nankai University, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and a bachelor degree
from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics, the PRC. Mr.
Zhang is currently a director and chief executive officer of AVIC
International (HK) Group and a director of Tacko International
Limited. Mr. Zhang served as an executive Director from August
2018 to August 2021.
FIYTA Precision Technology from February 2021 to September
2021, a director of Shennan Circuit from April 2021 to April
2022, a director of Tianma from February 2021 to November

Mr. Zhang was previously a director of

2021, a director and general manager of Rainbow Digital
from November 2021 to April 2022 and a director of China
Merchants POS from September 2017 to December 2019, the
shares of which are all listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
Mr. Zhang was also previously an executive director of AVIC
Joy Holdings (HK) Limited, the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 260) from
July 2017 to September 2020. Mr. Zhang also served as the
head of the operations management department, the head of
the planning and development department, the head of the
comprehensive management department, the deputy head of
the strategic development department, the office manager of
international aviation business office and the deputy office
manager of the capital operations office of AVIC International.
Prior to joining AVIC International, Mr. Zhang served as
the president assistant of AVIC Securities Company Limited
(formerly known as JIM#ESFEBEREE LB (SouthChina
Securities Company Limited)) and the head of SIEERIFFZE
FT (SouthChina Financial Research Institute). Mr. Zhang has
over 25 years of experience in areas of management, aviation
business, strategic development, industry research, securities,
investment and initial public offerings.
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Mr. Li Peiyin, aged 38, has been appointed as an executive
Director on 1 April 2022. He obtained a Bachelor’s Degree
in July 2007, a
Master’s Degree in Accounting from Xiamen University, China,

in Accounting from Yantai University, China,

in June 2010 and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration
from Missouri State University, the United States of America, in
July 2015. He has been a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since April 2014. Mr. Li has more
than 11 years of experience in corporate financial management.
Mr. Li is currently the head of the finance department of
AVIC Innovation and previously served as the head and
deputy head of the finance department of AVIC International.
Moreover, Mr. Li has been acting as the director of Rainbow
Digital Commercial Company Limited (“Rainbow Digital”), the
shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002419.5Z), since February 2021, FIYTA Precision
Technology, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 000026.5Z7), since February 2021,
Shennan Circuit Company Limited (“Shennan Circuit”), the
shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002916.5Z), since April 2021 and Tianma, the
shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 000050.5Z), since July 2022. He is also a director
of a subsidiary of the Group.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chow Wai Kam, ,,, aged 77, has been a non-executive
Director since June 2015. He obtained a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Architectural Studies and a Bachelor of Architecture
degree from the University of Hong Kong in November 1970
and November 1972, respectively. He has been an Authorised
Person (List of Architects) and a Registered Architect since July
1976 and January 1991, respectively. He was also admitted as
a Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Architects since August
2001. He is currently an executive director of CK Asset Holdings
Limited ("CKAH"), a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Chow joined the Hutchison Group in July
1995 and was the group managing director of the property
and hotels divisions of the Hutchison Group since 2000. He is
now the group managing director of Hutchison Property Group
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CKAH. He has over 40
years of experience in project management and architectural
design for various developments, including hotel, residential,
commercial, industrial and school projects in Hong Kong, the
Mainland China and overseas.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Yu Lin, David, /2 s8s, aged 81, has been an
independent non-executive Director since May 1999. He is also
a member of the Nomination Committee and the chairman
of each of the audit committee of the Company (the "“Audit
Committee”) and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Chu
received his Master of Business Administration degree from
Harvard University after degrees in Electrical Engineering and
Management at Northeastern University and was awarded an
honorary Doctor of Public Service degree from Northeastern
University. He worked for a number of sizeable international
corporations such as Bank of America, General Electric Co.
and Jardine Matheson & Company Limited. Mr. Chu is an
independent non-executive director of Chuang’s Consortium
International Limited since February 2013, and was an
independent non-executive director of Zhuhai Holdings
Investment Group Limited until June 2021, all being listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, aged 70, has been an independent non-
executive Director since December 2007. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of Science honours degree in Chemistry
and Administration. Mr. Li is also a fellow of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, UK. He is an independent
non-executive director of China Merchants Port Holdings
Company Limited, China-Hongkong Photo Products Holdings
Limited, Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited, Goldlion
Holdings Limited, Shanghai Industrial Urban Development
Group Limited, and Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings
Limited, and was an independent non-executive director of CR
Construction Group Holdings Limited until June 2021, all being
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Zhang Ping, aged 60, has been an independent non-
executive Director since May 2017. He is also a chairman and
member of the Nomination Committee and the member of
Audit Committee. He received a doctoral degree in Economics
from Chinese Academy of Social Science Graduate School. Mr.
Zhang started working at the Institute of Economics under
Chinese Academy of Social Science since July 1988 and retired
in July 2024. He has served as Yunshan senior professor at
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies, mainly engaged
in macro-policy and financial research since January 2025.
Mr. Zhang has been acting as the non-independent director
of Guangdong Shunkong Development Co., Ltd., the shares
of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 003039.57), since September 2024. He once led and
organized key national research project on economics. He
published several essays based on theory research and surveys.
His major research fields are the growth of China economy and
macroeconomic policies.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Liu Yanxi, aged 35, joined the Group in October 2024 as
deputy chief financial officer and is responsible for handling
the financing, accounting and treasury functions of the Group.
Ms. Liu holds a Master's Degree in Banking and International
Finance from Bayes Business School (formerly known as Cass
Business School) of University of London. Ms. Liu has over 10
years of experience in corporate financial management. Ms. Liu
was previously a project manager of the finance department
of AVIC International and a general manager of the finance
department of AVIC International (HK) Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining good standards of
corporate governance practices by emphasising transparency,
accountability and responsibility to its shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company applied
the principles of, and complied with all the code provisions
and, where applicable, the recommended best practices of the
“Corporate Governance Code” (the “CG Code"”) as set out in
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company will periodically review and improve its corporate
governance practices with reference to the latest development
of corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model Code"”)
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the Company's
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.
A reminder is served by the Company to each Director twice
annually of the black out period that Director cannot deal in
the securities and derivatives (if any) of the Company.

The Directors are required to notify the chief executive
officer (who is also a Director) and receive a dated written
acknowledgement before dealing in the securities and
derivatives (if any) of the Company. In the case of the chief
executive officer himself, he must notify the chairman and
receive a dated written acknowledgement before any dealing.
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Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has also established a written guideline no less
exacting than the Model Code for securities transactions by
relevant employees (including any employee of the Company
or director or employee of a subsidiary who, because of his
office or employment in the Company or a subsidiary, is likely
to possess inside information in relation to the securities of the
Company). No incidence of non-compliance was noted by the
Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is governed by the Board which has the
responsibility for leadership and control of the Company. The
Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company's
affairs.

Currently, the Board comprises five executive Directors, and
one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. An independent non-executive Director has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as prescribed by the Listing
Rules. All Directors served the full year for the year ended
31 December 2024. The composition of the Board and the
biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 13 to
18 of this annual report. Save as disclosed in this annual report,
there is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) between Board members.
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Notwithstanding any contractual or other terms on which
any Director may be appointed or engaged at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. The Directors to
retire in every year shall be those who have been longest in
office since their last election but as between persons who
became Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree between themselves) be determined by
lot. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. A new
Director appointed by the Board after the preceding annual
general meeting shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual
vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company (in the case of an addition to the existing Board)
and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

The Nomination Committee will carefully consider the
qualifications and experience of each candidate, before making
evaluation and submitting its recommendations to the Board
on the candidates for the appointment of new Directors, re-
election of Directors and filling any vacancy in the Board. After
the Board approves the proposal in relation to the nomination
of candidates for Directors, the proposal will be submitted
to the shareholders’ general meeting for consideration and
approval.
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain
diversity on the Board in order to maintaining a competitive
advantage of the Board. The Company seeks to achieve board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to the talents, skills, regional and
industry experience, background, gender and other qualities.
The Board will consider and if appropriate, set measurable
objectives to implement the Policy and review such objectives
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress
made towards achieving those objectives. The Board will
review the Policy, from time to time, to ensure its continued
effectiveness. As at the date of this report, the Board consists
of one female and eight male Directors. Taking into account
the business model and specific needs of the Company, the
Board considers that the gender diversity in respect of the
Board is satisfactory. The Board will endeavour to invite more
female members over time to join the Board when selecting
and making recommendation on suitable candidates for Board
appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference
to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local
recommended best practices with the ultimate goal of bringing
the Board to gender diversity.

The Group has also taken, and continues to take, steps to
promote diversity at all levels of its workforce. Opportunities
for employment, training and career development are equally
opened to all eligible employees without discrimination.
Currently, the male to female ratio in the workforce of the
Group is approximately 3:1. Due to the nature of industry in
which the Group operates, the industry has been in short of
female talents traditionally, therefore the Board considers that
the gender diversity in workforce is currently achieved and
the Board will continue to take opportunities to increase the
proportion of female workforce over time as and when suitable
female candidates are identified.
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The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group, monitors
its financial performance and maintains effective oversight
over the management. The Board members are fully committed
to their roles and have acted in good faith to maximize the
shareholders’ value in the long run, and have aligned the
Group’s goals and directions with the prevailing economic and
market conditions.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions under the requirements of the CG
Code. The major role and functions of the Board regarding its
corporate governance include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Company;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of
the Company and Directors; and

5. to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this report.

The following is a summary of the work of the Board in respect
of corporate governance matters during the year ended 31
December 2024:

1. performed corporate governance duties under the CG
Code;
2. reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies

and practices;
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3, reviewed the continuing connected transactions of the
Group;

4. reviewed the compliance with the CG Code; and

5. reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and

internal control systems of the Company through the
Audit Committee.

The senior management of the Company is delegated
with responsibilities in the day-to-day management and
administration of the Company and makes operational and
business decisions within the control and delegation framework
of the Company.

The Company has issued formal letters of appointment for
Directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment.

The Company had arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and officers. The
Company reviews the extent of insurance cover each year.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary who is responsible for ensuring that board
procedures,
followed; and also regularly updates the Board on governance

and all applicable rules and regulations, are

and regulatory matters. Any Director, in the furtherance of
his or her duties, may take independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances through the chairman at the expense
of the Company. The availability of professional advice extends
to the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees.

Minutes of Board meetings were taken by the company
secretary and, together with any supporting Board papers,
are available to all Board members. During the year ended
31 December 2024, eight Board meetings were held by the

Company.
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The attendance record of Directors at Board meetings and other EBEEZERHE_ZT _WNE+_B=+—HIE
Committee meetings as well as general meetings during the ERALFEESTTZREMSETTHEUR
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the table below: REAGHEESHREN TR

Number of general

Number of meetings or meetings attended/held meetings attended/held
W/ 87
HE/BTEENEERY REAERH
Remuneration Nommation Audit

Board Committee = Committee = Committee Annual Special
Director 55 - FMEEE RAZEE BENRZEY BE ¥
Executive Directors HiTEE
Huang Yongfeng BEE (Z/E)

(Chairman) 6/8 - il - 01 01
Jiao Yan - $:3 6/8 = = = 0/1 01
Yu Xiaodong TER 8/8 I - - 7 Al
Li Peiyin FREE 6/8 - - - 0/1 0/1
Zhang Zhibiao REI2 8/8 - - - 171 171
Non-executive Director FHITEE
Chow Wai Kam BEE 6/8 - - - 7 11
Independent BUHHITEE

Non-executive Directors
Chu Yu Lin, David RPB 6/8 n n 4/4 11 11
Li Ka Fai, David FRE 6/8 n - 4/4 11 11
Zhang Ping RE 6/8 - 171 4/4 0/1 0/1
During the year ended 31 December 2024, a meeting was held HEE_ZET_NE+_A=+—HLEFE

by the Chairman with the Non-executive Directors (including & ’IféiiiF#ﬂ TEE (BEBILIFNITES)
Independent Non-executive Directors) without presence of the TEARBHITEETHENBRTRIT T —XE
executive Directors. Save for the annual general meeting, one H BRIREBEAZIN RIE - INERRTT
special general meeting was held during the year 2024. T—REREERKRE
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Every newly appointed director was given a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction training to ensure that he/she
is fully aware of his/her responsibilities under statute and
common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements.

All directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
pursuant to CG Code C.1.4. According to the records provided
by the Directors, the Directors received the following training
during the year 2024:

ERIRIIREEEE

BRNEAENESFELTEE EXARER
HMm&ZMAEE  URMAM T2 M
BASEERREEE EHRAEZRRE
thEERE THBS-

RIBFEEERTRICIME 2RESEHE
BLREXER ERTEMANBMRRAE-
BESEFRERHNCSE EFN _T_MOFRN
Z2 DU

Type of continuous professional
development programmes

FEEEREEA2EN
Reading materials Attending briefing
and updates sessions/seminars
Director 55 BFEMEREREN HESNE HEg
Executive Directors HIiTEE
Huang Yongfeng HEIE 4 4
Jiao Yan = v/ v
Yu Xiaodong FiEE v/ v
Li Peiyin S 4 4
Zhang Zhibiao RS 4 4
Non-executive Director FEHITEE
Chow Wai Kam A& v 4
Independent BUFRITEE
Non-executive Directors

Chu Yu Lin, David ENAl v/ v
Li Ka Fai, David FxRE v v/
Zhang Ping IR 4 4
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the role of the
chairman is separated from that of the chief executive officer.
Currently, the chairman and the chief executive officer of
the Company are Mr. Huang Yongfeng and Mr. Yu Xiaodong
respectively.

The chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board,
ensuring the effectiveness of the Board in all aspects of its role
and for setting its agenda and taking into account any matters
proposed by other Directors for inclusion in the agenda.
Agendas and accompanying Board papers are circulated where
possible at least three days before the time of a Board meeting.
The chairman is also responsible for making sure all Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings. The
chief executive officer is delegated with the authorities to
manage the business of the Group in all aspects effectively.

The division of responsibilities between the chairman and the
chief executive officer has been clearly established and set out
in writing.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors bring a wide range of skills and
experience to the Group. They serve the important function of
providing adequate checks and balances for safeguarding the
interests of shareholders and the Company as a whole. The
Company had received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considered
that the independent non-executive Directors are independent
in character and judgment and fulfill the independence
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has entered into service agreements with Mr.
Chow Wai Kam and Mr. Zhang Ping for a term of three years.
The Company has entered into service agreements with Mr.
Chu Yu Lin, David and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David with no specified
length of service.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one
executive Director, Mr. Yu Xiaodong, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chu Yu Lin, David
(as chairman) and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David. The Remuneration
Committee is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the Company's policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors and senior management and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration. The role, authority
and duties of the Remuneration Committee are clearly set out
in its terms of reference.

One meeting was held during the year 2024 to review and
recommend the remuneration package of all Directors to Board.
The attendance of each member is set out in the table above
under section headed “BOARD OF DIRECTORS”.

The primary goal of the remuneration policy on executive
remuneration packages is to enable the Company to retain
and motivate executive Directors by linking their compensation
with performance as measured against corporate objectives.
Under the policy, no director or any of his associates is allowed
in deciding his own remuneration. During the year 2024,
the Remuneration Committee has adopted the model “to
determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management”.
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Details of remuneration of members of senior management of HE_Z_WNE+_A=+—HIEEE &
the Company by band for the year ended 31 December 2024 RAEEESEZMESEHIFLIINOT .
are set out below:
Number of
individuals
Remuneration B & A
HK$1,000,000 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,00078 75 % 2,000,0007%8 75 1

Details of Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2
to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements respectively.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established
in compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the
purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group’s financial reporting process, risk management
and internal control systems and the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function. It currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chu Yu Lin,
David (as chairman), Mr. Li Ka Fai, David and Mr. Zhang Ping.
The Audit Committee met four times during the year 2024 to
assess the ability of external auditor and review the interim
and final results, the interim and annual reports, the external
auditor’'s engagement letter and fee, the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, the effectiveness
of the Group's internal audit function and the continuing
connected transactions. The attendance of each member is set
out in the table above under the section headed “BOARD OF
DIRECTORS”. The duties of the Audit Committee are clearly set
out in its terms of reference.

Full minutes of meetings are kept and sent to all members of
the Board. Matters raised at the meetings were reported back
to the Board so that due consideration was given as to the
action to be taken.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has a Nomination Committee which was
established in compliance with rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules
and code provisions B.3.1 to B.3.4 of the CG Code for the
purposes of reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes, identifying candidates with suitable qualifications
as directors, selecting and making recommendations to the
Board, assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, and making recommendations to the Board
on matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors. It currently
comprises one executive Director, Mr. Huang Yongfeng, and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang
Ping (as chairman) and Mr. Chu Yu Lin, David. The duties of
the Nomination Committee are clearly set out in its terms of
reference.

One meeting was held during the year 2024 to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and
making recommendations to the Board regarding appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors. The attendance of each member is set out
in the table above under the section headed “BOARD OF
DIRECTORS”.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee shall endeavor to find individuals
of high integrity who have a solid record of accomplishment in
their chosen fields and who possess the qualifications, qualities
and skills to effectively represent the best interests of the Group
and its shareholders. Candidates will be selected for their ability
to exercise good judgment, and to provide practical insights
and diverse perspectives. Candidates also will be assessed in
the context of the then-current composition of the Board,
the operating requirements of the Group. In conducting this
assessment, the Nomination Committee will, in connection with
its assessment and recommendation of candidates for director,
consider diversity (including, but not limited to, gender, race,
ethnicity, age, experience and skills) and such other factors as
it deems appropriate given the then current and anticipated
future needs of the Board and the Company, and to maintain
a balance of perspectives, qualifications, qualities and skills on
the Board.

The Nomination Committee considered the following
qualifications at a minimum to be required of any Board
members in recommending to the Board potential new board
members, or the continued service of existing members:

o the highest professional and personal ethics;
o broad experience in business;
o ability to provide insights and practical wisdom based on

their experience and expertise;

o commitment to enhancing shareholder value;

o sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties;

o compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and
o ability to develop a good working relationship with other

Board members and contribute to the Board’s working
relationship with senior management of the Group.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young are the auditors of the Group. The services
provided by them include audit and non-audit. Fees for
auditing and non-auditing (including interim review and other
professional services) services for the year ended 31 December
2024 amount to HK$4,109,000 and HK$1,869,000 respectively.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors are responsible for monitoring the preparation of
financial statements of each financial period and ensuring those
financial statements provide a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for the
relevant financial period. In preparing the financial statements,
the Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies
and applied them consistently, adopted Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, made a prudent and reasonable
judgment and estimation, and, prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

The Company has timely announced and published its financial
results in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

The auditors are responsible for forming an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those financial statements
and to report their opinion solely to the members of the
Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), and
for no other purpose.

A statement by the auditors about their reporting
responsibilities is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report of
this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’'s risk
management and internal control systems and for reviewing
their effectiveness through the Audit Committee. These
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement, losses or fraud. Procedures have been
designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, for maintaining proper accounting records; and for
the reliability of financial information used within the business
or for publication. Procedures have also been designed for
compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, were conducted by the internal audit section of the
Group from time to time. The results and recommendations
were reported to the Audit Committee and thereafter to the
Board. The adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions
had also been reviewed by the Board and Audit Committee.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, internal audit
section of the Group evaluated the effectiveness and adequacy
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
by adopting an integrated risk assessment approach, and the
review report was presented to the Audit Committee and
the Board for review in March 2025. No material deficiency
was identified. Improvements in internal control and risk
management measures to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and to mitigate risks of
the Group will be adopted by The Board. The Board considered
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
were adequate and effective and the Company had complied
with the provisions on risk management and internal control of
the CG Code. The Board confirms that systems and procedures
are in place to identify, control and report on significant risks
involved in achieving the Company's strategic objectives.
Exposures to these risks are monitored by the Board with the
support of Audit Committee, internal audit section and senior
management.
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The Company has implemented Corporate Disclosure Policy,
which set out the reporting procedures for the handling and
dissemination of inside information.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Kwok Chi Ho, the company secretary of the Company, is
an employee of the Company and responsible directly to the
Board. He has complied with all the qualification, experience
and training requirement under the Listing Rules.

The company secretary reports to the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The updated memorandum of association and bye-laws of
the Company had been posted on the Company's website
at www.cath.com.hk and the Stock Exchange’s designated
website at www.hkexnews.hk. During the year 2024, there
was no change in the amended and restated memorandum of
association and bye-laws of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of a special general meeting by
shareholders

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company and the Companies
Act, the Board shall, on the requisition of shareholders holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of such of the paid-up capital of the Company as at
the date of the deposit carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to convene a
special general meeting of the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the
registered office of the Company (the "Registered Office”),
which is presently situated at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda, and may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.
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If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
said date.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of
shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the
requisition relates; or not less than one hundred shareholders,
can request the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders
entitled to receive notice of the next annual general meeting
notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and
is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to
shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
sent to them any statement of not more than one thousand
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be
deposited at the Registered Office with a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses, not less
than six weeks before the meeting in the case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution; and not less than one week
before the meeting in the case of any other requisition.
Provided that if, an annual general meeting is called for a date
six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the
requisition though not deposited within the time required shall
be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes
thereof.
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EXELRS

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director

Regarding the procedures for proposing a person for election as
a Director, please refer to the procedures made available under
section Corporate Governance of the Company’s website at
www.cath.com.hk.

Procedures for directing shareholder’s enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose
contact details are as follows:

Unit B, 15th Floor, United Centre
95 Queensway, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2915 0867

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
general meetings of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is committed to fair disclosure, comprehensive
and transparent reporting. Effective communication with
shareholders has always been one of the Company's priorities.
Information in relation to the Group is disseminated to
shareholders in a timely manner through various formal
channels, which include interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication
policy which is subject to review on a regular basis to ensure its
effectiveness.
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General meetings of the Company provide good opportunities
for direct communications between the Board and its
shareholders. The Chairman of the Board, all other
Directors and senior management endeavor to attend any
general meeting of the Company and answer queries from
shareholders. Separate resolution is proposed for each issue
by the chairman of the meeting at each general meeting. An
annual general meeting shall be called by notice of not less
than twenty-one (21) clear days. All other general meetings
(including a special general meeting) must be called by Notice
of not less than fourteen (14) clear days but if permitted by
the Listing Rules, a general meeting may be called by shorter
notice if it is so agreed: (i) in the case of a meeting called as the
annual general meeting, by all the members entitled to attend
and vote thereat; and (ii) in the case of any other meeting, by
a majority in number of the members having a right to attend
and vote at the meeting, being a majority together holding not
less than ninety-five per cent. of the total voting rights at the
meeting of all the shareholders of the Company.

Detailed procedures for conducting a poll are to be explained
by the chairman of the meeting at the commencement of
the general meeting. Any questions raised from shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll may also be answered by the
chairman of the meeting.

The 2024 annual general meeting of the Company was held
on 31 May 2024. At the meeting, a separate resolution was
proposed by the chairman of the meeting in respect of each
separate issue, including re-election of retiring directors, and
voted by way of poll. The Company announced the results
of the poll in the manner prescribed under the Listing Rules.
All Directors except for three executive Directors and an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee, a member of the
Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee and a member
of Nomination Committee, attended the 2024 annual general
meeting and had effective communications with shareholders.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap 622 of the
laws of Hong Kong), including a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group and an indication of
likely future development in the Group's business, can be found
in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 2 to 12 of this annual report which
forms part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 58 to 201 of this annual report.

At the Board meeting held on 28 March 2025, it was
recommended that a final dividend of HK$0.005 per ordinary
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 be
proposed to be declared and paid to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members on 11 June 2025.
The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 9 June 2025 to Wednesday, 11 June 2025, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office
of the Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6 June 2025. The final dividend
is expected to be distributed to the shareholders on 20 June
2025, if approved by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 30 May 2025.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may declare and
distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company to

allow the shareholders to share the Company’s profits.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter
alia, the following factors:

(1) the Group’s actual and expected financial results;
(2) the Group's working capital requirements,

capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(3) the Group's liquidity position; and

(4) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The payment of dividend is subject to the compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, including the laws of Bermuda
and the Company’s bye-laws. The Board will continue to review
the Dividend Policy from time to time.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements, is set
out on page 202 of this annual report. This summary does not
form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the Company’s share capital
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’'s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to
HK$88,972,000. In addition, the Company's share premium
account, in the amount of HK$1,857,729,000, may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of the Group's purchases attributable to the
Group's major suppliers are as follows:

a] iR {E
BERERBDE—NN—Z2EXHEEFE>
RN _E _WME+_BA=+—H > &xAFzZH
493 R {4 8 3 5 71,88,972,000 © tE4h » KA T
ZRE 1D % B8R 1,857,729,00078 7T Al LU B 4T
BT UK e

RBA - BRIZHLESAE LHES

ARBRHEEAMBAD R ERABRERA
BRI HERATER LHES-

FEREERER

AEBTEHERMERAERZRBEERTD
EE3nF

2024 2023
% %

Percentage of purchases: HIRBERER DL
From the largest supplier KERAHER 8 9
From the five largest suppliers KB HAMHERS 20 20

The percentages of the Group’s sales attributable to the Group’s
major customers are as follows:

rERTERRAGAEBRZHETDLLN
T

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=
% %
Percentage of sales: LIHEF DL
To the largest customer RERAER 25 30
To the five largest customers REEARKEE 70 73

Except for the continuing connected transactions as disclosed in
the section entitled “NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS"” below, none of the Directors or any of their
close associates or any shareholders (which, to the knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any interest in the Group's five largest

suppliers and customers.

BETEHRES FERRFERERZ IR
TERBNFEBRERZII EFHUHIM
REBMBATNEEEFAANHEEERT5%LU
FEETRAZRRBEREERAEB LMK
EEiE R EAERD-



Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited
REMZERRIZERBRAE]
Annual Report 2024 — = — PUEELR

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ERTHRS
DIRECTORS )

The Board during the year and up to the date of this report REARAERBEABRSHE BFT I
comprises:

Executive Directors: BITES
Huang Yongfeng =HEg

Yu Xiaodong TR

Jiao Yan =¥

Zhang Zhibiao REE

Li Peiyin TIEEH
Non-executive Director: JEMITESE :
Chow Wai Kam BE%
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIIEMITES .
Chu Yu Lin, David Ea)is

Li Ka Fai, David FREB
Zhang Ping R

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Yu Xiaodong, IRIEBEAATMEA > TERLE-ARELER
Mr. Chow Wai Kam and Mr. Chu Yu Lin, David will retire by SR#BEEFSHREERETBEERS LHRFER
rotation. All of them, being eligible, will offer themselves for F-HEFNESERTEENERREBEK
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. gLEEEET-

The Company has received an annual confirmation from AATBERESBIIERNITESREH A
each of the independent non-executive Directors of his EMREIEI13MEFHEB I EFERD
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules on the KRB EXRBKE R ZATNRAFFEBIL
Stock Exchange. The Company, as at the date of this report, JFHITERHBE LA Lo

still considered all the independent non-executive Directors as

independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 13 to 18 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration of employees (including Directors and senior
management of the Group) is determined with reference to
their qualification, expertise and experience in the industry,
competence, duties and responsibilities within the Group,
the performance and profitability of the Group as well as
the market benchmark and the prevailing market conditions.
Employees shall also be eligible to receive a discretionary year-
end incentive bonus, which shall be determined by the Group
at its absolute discretion taking into account, inter alia, the
Group’s operating performance, market conditions in which the
Group operates and the individual’s performance, payable at
such time as the Group may consider appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director or entities connected with the Directors had
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company's holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during or at the end of the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) (a) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO;
or (b) as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company
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REABREBBRZEFE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of issued ordinary shares held in the

FEERTLERHE Company

Personal Interests Corporate Total NG|

Name of Director Capacity interests of spouse interests interests RiEZ

EEpy g1 5N £ F B AEED REiniaE BAFRLE

Yu Xiaodong Beneficial owner 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 0.02%
ThE® BERBEEA

Save as disclosed above and except for certain Directors who
had non-beneficial interests in certain subsidiaries of the
Company held for the benefits of the Company, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive had or was deemed to have
any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO; or (b) as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section of “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above and in the section of “Share
option scheme” below, during the year no rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company had been granted to any of the Directors or
their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age;
no such rights had been exercised by them; and none of
the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting held on 28 May 2014, the
Company adopted a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
to contribute to the business development and growth of
the Group and to enable the Group to recruit high-calibre
employees and attract or retain human resources that are
valuable to the Group. The share option scheme is valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from the date of its adoption
and ended on 28 May 2024. Further details of the share option
scheme are disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Since the adoption of the share option scheme, no options have
been granted, exercised, lapsed, cancelled or outstanding.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER FEfgR R EH A TR B8R
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND P2 =
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the following interests of 5% or HR_ZE_MWNE+_A=+—H' XA TRE
more of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded 55 RHIEKEFIFE336KGFE T ELMH
in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company FRECERMIARAT5%E L B TR AT

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO: 1S G
Long positions: e
Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
capital as at
31 December
2024
Number of gt 1 - 3
Capacity and ordinary +Z-H=+—H
Name of shareholders nature of interest shares held {(LYZBAFBERIT
MR8 BMRREEEE FriFEiERSE BEZzERLE
Tacko International Limited (“Tacko”)  Beneficial owner 1,895,559,000 20.37
EmEEA
AVIC International (HK) Group Limited Beneficial owner
("AVIC International (HK) Group”) 2,421,341,390 26.03
FRRERR (B8 £EBERAR EmEEA
(TRMERR (B £8))
AVIC International (HK) Group Through a controlled corporation 4,316,900,390 46.40
FAER (558 £8 B —ERELE
AVIC Innovation Through a controlled corporation 4,316,900,390 46.40
AL Al B —ERELE
Aviation Industry Corporation of Through a controlled corporation
China, Ltd ("AVIC") 4,316,900,390 46.40
FEMETEXEEERAR BEE—ERELE

(TR T %))
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According to notices of disclosure of interests filed with
the Company, Tacko is a wholly-owned subsidiary of AVIC
International (HK) Group, which in turn is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of AVIC Innovation. AVIC Innovation is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of AVIC. Accordingly, each of AVIC
International (HK) Group, AVIC Innovation and AVIC is deemed

to be interested in the shares held by Tacko.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company had the following continuing
connected transaction, certain details of which are disclosed in
compliance with the requirements of Charter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Sale services of engines, engines parts and related
services

On 18 October 2024, the Company entered into a 2024 sale
framework agreement with China Aviation Industry General
Aircraft Co., Ltd. ("CAIGA"), pursuant to which the Group will
sell engines, engine parts and related services to CAIGA and/
or its associates (excluding the Group) for use in new aircraft
manufacture and for the sale of parts into the aftermarket
for maintenance, repair and overhaul for a term commencing
from 1 January 2025 to 31 December 2026. Further details
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
18 October 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 13
November 2024.

The continuing connected transaction of the Company is
included in the disclosure of related party transactions in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions pursuant to Rule
14A.55 of the Listing Rules, and had confirmed that the
continuing connected transaction had been entered into:

(M in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the terms of the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole.

The total amounts of the sale income disclosed above during
the year under review have not exceeded the annual cap
amounts of US$50.4 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$393 million).

Ernst & Young, the Company’s external auditors, were engaged
to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information,
and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified
letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the
non-exempt continuing connected transactions disclosed above
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there is no related party transaction
or continuing related party transaction set out in note 36
to the financial statements that falls into the category of
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction that
needs to be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors
confirmed that the Company had complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, the following Director had interests in the
following businesses conducted through the company named
below which are considered to compete or be likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules:

Name of Director

ERNA

Name of company

AL EmttE

Nature of interest

ESNHPFUEH L2 gD

FR THEFEBTHARRAFA TINES
WD MZFEBRBLTRUERER
j%ﬁﬁ&%lE@%?%ﬁﬁiiai?ﬁb%ﬁ}ﬁii%ﬁ

BHRE

Nature of competing business

MPEBEEH

Chow Wai Kam
BE%

CK Asset Holdings Limited
RIBXEEERRAHE HITES

The Board is of the view that the Group is capable of carrying
on its business independently of, and at arm’s length from the
Excluded Businesses. When making decisions on the businesses
of the Excluded Businesses of the Group, Mr. Chow, in the
performance of his duties as Director, has acted and will
continue to act in the best interest of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors of the
Company is currently in force and was in force throughout the
year 2024.

Executive director

Property development and
investment (“Excluded Businesses”)

MEZRKRKRE (TFFRER)
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Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company and the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been audited
by Ernst & Young who shall retire and a resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has retired as the auditor of the
Group upon expiration of its term of office with effect from the
conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company in
2023. For further details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 28 April 2023.

On behalf of the Board
Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited

Huang Yongfeng
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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et
EY:x

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CONTINENTAL AEROSPACE TECHNOLOGIES HOLDING
LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 58 to 201, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

B G ERHR
EHRMIAREEEOT795E  Fax HE: +852 2868 4432
Kth—REE271%

Tel EB5E: +852 2846 9888
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“"HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the "Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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WIS
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FREtEIE (@)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EE R

EANEHMANMEEHERETER

goodwill

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, other intangible assets and

ME -BERZE RAREE AUEFEERBERE

The impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, other intangible assets and
goodwill is identified as a key audit matter as
these assets are quantitatively significant to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole.

MR E -BERRE - EREEE -HMEBERLEE
FHEHRCVBRREREATERE RMARKEHE
BERH R AR RESEFE

The property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, other intangible assets and goodwill
amounting to approximately HK$613 million, HK$245
million, HK$1,271 million and HK$13 million,
respectively, as at 31 December 2024, in aggregate
accounted for 54% of the total assets of the Group
as at that date. Under HKFRS Accounting Standards,
goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Company performs its annual impairment test
on the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill
is allocated as at 31 December. In addition, each
year, the Company assesses whether there are any
indications of impairment for the (group of) cash
generating units (“CGUs"). The test and assessment
are largely based on management’s expectations and
estimates of future results of the (group of) CGUs.
The impairment test is based on the recoverable value
of the relevant cash-generating units.
N_E_NF+"A=+—H ME-BERRHE"
ERESE HthWETLEERBEDAINR613ES
BT 245 B AT 127 BEBETRIZEEE T
et EEEERBEENSA% REEBMBR
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EEBIT)) () HIREE AR R HBRAEER
TREREHREELE T BH) ORREENTEH
Fefast Bz fogBERARHMERREELEE TN
WeBlfBE A E%E o

We assessed the competence, qualification and
objectivity of the external valuer engaged by the
Group.

EMBE G
REBM-

EEEBEFHNII S EEMNEN -BE

We reviewed management’s assessment of the
recoverable amounts. Our audit procedures
included examining and recalculating management’s
discounted cash flow projections for the
determination of the value-in-use and assessing
key assumptions by comparison to the historical
performance of the CGUs. We also performed
sensitivity analyses on the assumptions used in the
cash flow projections. Further, we involved our
internal valuation specialists to assist us with our
assessment of the methodology and the discount
rates used to determine the recoverable amounts of
the CGUs.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

ERYRED
FREFEE (@

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

MBEEAFER

BANEANMANMAREAN FRETEE

The Group’s management concluded that there is no
impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, other intangible assets and goodwill
during the year ended 31 December 2024. Details
are set out in notes 3, 13, 14(a), 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
EEEEEESHER VE -KRERRH LHE
EE-HtEFLEERBENG&E_SZ_NE+_A
=+ —HEFERTEBE FHEHINGKSHHBRR
MiEE3~13~14(a)~ 15K 16°

We also assessed the related disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.
HA TGS ERRPIAERAIRE

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lai Ho Yin.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS#Z &8 &

Year ended 31 December 2024 #E_Z _NF+_B=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—EZ@mE 2=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 F#E5T FAET
REVENUE W& &= 5 1,805,382 1,830,186
Cost of sales HE K (1,328,679) (1,262,612)
Gross profit EF 476,703 567,574
Other income and gains, net HAW A K W & 3 58 5 26,683 43,554
Impairment losses under expected credit FEEAEEEEER T2
loss model, net of reversal A EEE kR E[D (2,731) (427)
Selling and distribution expenses THE K= iHE A (69,557) (69,107)
Administrative expenses THERERER (296,300) (311,185)
Research and development costs B &2 Al K (51,317) (53,611)
Other operating income/(expenses) H&E WA (BR) 2,185 (68,469)
Finance costs M= 7 (13,200) (13,514)
Share of loss of an associate DEHE QB EE (4,370) (4,112)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR¥R A A 6 68,096 90,703
Income tax credit/(expense) gt (F) 10 (12,086) 71,506
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR TATBER ARWS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO FEEF
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 56,010 162,209
EARNINGS PER SHARE TATREBRESITEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BiasrRERN
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY
Basic and diluted BEARKR#E HKO0.60 cent HK1.74 cents
12 0.607#ll 1.747%40




Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited
KEMERRIERERAT
Annual Report 2024 — %= — INEF R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2 & 2R

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_ZE _NF+_B=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E_ME —BT=F
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
iorza FET FAET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A FE T 56,010 162,209
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hit2mElz~ (§518)
INCOME/(LOSS)
ltems that may be reclassified HEBrEENDBEEER
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIEH
Exchange differences on translation MEBEBINEBELE Y
of foreign operations PE R =% (32,672) 13,771
Item that will not be reclassified HEBRBTAgEMDEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmzIER
Actuarial gains on defined benefit ERERAFEIEENE
plans, net of tax (0rrfRIER) 29 6,855 590
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE TEHMMBEKE - (B5HH)
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR,  (J1B&#R1E1&)
NET OF TAX (25,817) 14,361

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ZATEE AEGAE
FOR THE YEAR, ATTRIBUTABLE 2HEELEEE
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 30,193 176,570
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION {2 & Bk =

At 31 December 2024 R -ZE-_MFE+_-_/F=+—H

2024 2023
o1} - 3 2=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ FRE R 13 612,643 617,935
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(a) 245,426 252,384
Goodwill GRS 15 13,080 13,841
Other intangible assets HEMEREE 16 1,270,538 1,340,863
Investment in an associate REE RN ZKE 17 15,501 10,029
Equity investments designated at BAFEFAREMEEA
fair value through other Wiz BRAE
comprehensive income 18 2,331 2,343
Defined benefit plan assets ERERAFEEE 29 8,966 =
Total non-current assets EREFEEEE 2,168,485 2,237,395
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories 78 19 786,250 645,985
Loan to an associate M E R BIRENER 17 - 7,158
Trade receivables e 8 7 AR R 20 123,776 129,444
Contract assets EHEE 21 8,853 24,187
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE 12 & R HAth
receivables FE U BR R 23 51,643 52,658
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary — FEURE £ M B A T3k 18 22 15,830 6,957
Time deposits EHER 24 555,940 628,863
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBEEEEY 24 243,518 246,417
Total current assets MENEEMEE 1,785,810 1,741,669
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47 & M4 #5ik R &

At 31 December 2024 R _ZE_NE+_F=+—H

2024 2023
—E_NE —g-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
et FET FET
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEafE
Trade payables FE1T B 5 BRR 26 131,868 140,790
Other payables, accruals and provisions E fhfE{tERFN ~ FE5+ &
Kt 27 249,119 272,767
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary FET R & Y@ A B RIE 25 - 272
Amount due to an intermediate FEAS ARG A B FIE
holding company 25 24,639 25,117
Lease liabilities HEadE 14(b) 7,930 7,149
Contract liabilities a8 E 28 24,247 18,943
Tax payable FEFRIE 40,857 41,821
Total current liabilities REEEEE 478,660 506,859
NET CURRENT ASSETS MANEERE 1,307,150 1,234,810
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BERBERTHER
LIABILITIES 3,475,635 3,472,205
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEmEN AR
Lease liabilities HEaR& 14(b) 280,661 282,199
Defined benefit plan obligations RGN EET 29 4,525 2,927
Contract liabilities EHNEE 28 86,790 65,369
Provisions B 27 40,920 37,743
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEEME 30 83,602 88,506
Total non-current liabilities ERBIBERE 496,498 476,744
Net assets BEEZFE 2,979,137 2,995,461
EQUITY R
Share capital & 7~ 31 930,337 930,337
Reserves HE 33 2,048,800 2,065,124
Total equity HmARE 2,979,137 2,995,461
Huang Yongfeng Yu Xiaodong
=BIE FEER
Director Director
EE EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY {2 S m S8 &

Year ended 31 December 2024 #E_Z _NF+_B=+—HIFE

Share
Share premium
capital account

R R i BER

HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
(note 33)
(Hf3£33)
At 1 January 2023 RIE-_=ZF—HF—H 930,337 1,857,729
Profit for the year RERF = -
Other comprehensive income for the year: AEAMPENS
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BhEBIEREEZ ERER
operations S -
Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans, net of tax € ZAEH st BB E W E
(N RIER) - =
Total comprehensive income for the year rEXEWAEE - =
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RIEZ=F+"A=+—HK
“E_MFE—RA—H 930,337 1,857,729*
Profit for the year AEEF - -
Other comprehensive income for the year: AEAMZENS
Exchange differences on translation of foreign MEBINEBEL VERESR
operations - -
Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans, net of tax EZEHMtEIBEE IR E
(N RIER) - -
Total comprehensive income for the year EEZENREEE - -
Transfer of fair value reserve upon the derecognition REUHHEIGAFE AEMEE
of equity investments at fair value through other ~ WHZ RAKRERFER N T ERFE
comprehensive income (note 33) (Bg5E33) - =
2023 final dividend paid (note 11) BERIZEZZERERKRE (ME11) - -
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-ME+-A=+—H 930,337 1,857,729*
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERETRPOERSMBRARFTNE
HK$2,048,800,000 (2023: HK$2,065,124,000) in the consolidated S EHE£2,048,800,00088 T (ZE =& :

statement of financial position. 2,065,124,000%87T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY {2 S REm S8R

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_ZE _NF+_B=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BEREAATHEEA
Fair value
reserve of
equity
investments
designated
at fair value
Asset through other
revaluation comprehensive Reserve Translation Retained Total
reserve income fund reserve profits equity
BRAFEHA
Hi2EWEHEZ
BELEEZ
BEEMHE NREEHE HEE fE R R BiEEH BamiE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
(note 33) (note 33)
(H13233) (Hf3£33)
130,615 (224,452) 183 (39,409) 163,888 2,818,891
- - - - 162,209 162,209
- - - 13,771 - 13,771
- - - - 590 590
- - - 13,771 162,799 176,570
130,615* (224,452)* 183* (25,638)* 326,687 2,995,461
- - - - 56,010 56,010
- - - (32,672) - (32,672)
- - - - 6,855 6,855
- - - (32,672) 62,865 30,193
- 224,452 - - (224,452) -
- - - = (46,517) (46,517)
130,615* = 183* (58,310)* 118,583* 2,979,137
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS {8 IRERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NF+_B=+—HIFE

2024 2023
“E-mE “EI=HE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
it FE7T FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES @& ZBzHERE
Profit before tax BRAS AR A 68,096 90,703
Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs MBHX 7 13,200 13,514
Share of loss of an associate DMEBERE 2 EA 4,370 4,112
Bank interest income RITHI B WA 5 (24,557) (28,052)
Interest income on loan to an associate BBEABRENERZ 5
HEHA ®) (373)
Gain on deemed disposal of partial interest in BEHE-BBELES 5
an associate Sl pEl (10,097) =
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HENE - BRERSREZ 6
plant and equipment Eﬂﬁ/ (&) (5) 18,749
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) 7 E MR,/ (R B ) 6
of inventories 20,478 (17,482)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y% -BERZEZITE 6 42,229 36,286
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 6 14,157 14,472
Amortisation of other intangible assets HittBEE 2 #H 6 85,869 86,669
Impairment losses under expected credit loss FHEEBERET ZRE 6
model, net of reversal 518 kAL 2,731 427
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS £%

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_ZE _NF+_B=+—HIFE

iﬁﬂl}ll;i

2024 2023
“E-mE “EI=HE
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Kz FAE7T FET
Operating cash flows before movements in NBREEEREFAN
working capital REREnS 216,463 219,025
Increase in inventories FEEm (164,264) (104,152)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables G ZERTuED / (2m) 2,906 (32,315)
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from EWRZIBARRIE
a fellow subsidiary HL/ (&) (11,540) 20,668
Increase in prepayments, deposits and BAMIE e RAMER
other receivables BEEE M (3,028) (15,071)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BREERD /() 15,263 (24,187)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables BB ZERTIEM,/ (i) (6,302) 2,339
Increase/(decrease) in other payables, HMEMRA B ERREG
accruals and provisions 8,/ CGeb) (20,428) 64,303
Increase in contract liabilities SEHBEEM 27,738 31,043
Decrease in defined benefit plan obligations ERERFABDED (531) (119)
Cash generated from operations EEELCRE 56,277 161,534
Interest paid ENFE (13,200) (13,373)
Tax paid EARE (5,714) (9,310)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEHMBIRERETE 37,363 138,851
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEBHZRERE
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits with ~ 1REVRZIEARBB=(EA
original maturity over three months EBRERNMEHE 784,342 600,658
Placements of new time deposits with original GREIFEBB=MEAN
maturity over three months MEHER (714,028) (984,590)
Purchases of items of property, EAYE BENSEEE 13
plant and equipment (44,213) (69,665)
Additions of other intangible assets REHMERFEE 16 (43,640) (26,260)
Bank interest received EUWER1TH & 28,088 21,402
Proceeds on disposal of items of property, HENE BERZHFHEE
plant and equipment PR3 FIE 439 1,569
Repayment from loan to an associate REMBERERHENENZ
B 7,166 -
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities ~#EZEZBELE/ (EH) 2HE
MERH 18,154 (456,886)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS {8 IRERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z _NF+_B=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—TomE _E_CF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
/03 FET FEr
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REE#HzHREHE
Principal portion of lease payments REMHZEEES 34(b) (7,695) (7,620)
Advances from/(repayment to) an intermediate R AT RS 34(b)
holding company (MREERATER 779 (1,288)
Repayment to a fellow subsidiary AEZMBARER 34(b) (272) (5,308)
Dividends paid BIRAKRE (46,517) -
Net cash flows used in financing activities METBFERZRENETE (53,705) (14,216)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND B &RB&%EY
CASH EQUIVALENTS gm,/ (R B8 1,812 (332,251)
Cash and cash equivalents at RENZRERREEEY
beginning of year 246,417 578,903
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExEHTETH
changes, net (4,711) (235)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERZRERFEEEY
END OF YEAR 243,518 246,417
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERAEEBMER IR
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B RIRITE R 24 199,466 242,580
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity W BERFREIEIR DR =@ F 24
of less than three months when acquired E’\]#?&ﬁi,ﬁﬂﬁm 44,052 3,837
243,518 246,417
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is
located at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton, HM 10, Bermuda.

During the year, the Group was mainly involved in the
general aviation aircraft piston engine business.

In the opinion of the Company's directors, the immediate
holding company of the Company is AVIC International
(HK) Group Limited and the ultimate holding company of
the Company is Aviation Industry Corporation of China,
Ltd., which is incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC").

1.

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H

ARREREH

Continental Aerospace Technologies
Holding Limitedk B fT 2 B 4% £ B8
BRRAR (K271 A —BRERE
EAMBIZERRAB A AT 25
= &= A Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 10,
Bermuda e

FRO-FAEETENSTBEAMERE
EERHMER -

ARBEER R FARENEEER
RBERTMER (FB) EEBERAF
ARBHNRRERABDZTEMET
FEBARQ2E (MPEARKNE
(THRE) SEMALIL) o
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31 December 2024 — 2" MF+_"F=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Name

BiE

Motto Investment Limited

Motto Investment Limited

Continental Motors
Deutschland Limited

Continental Motors

Deutschland Limited

Continental Aerospace
Technologies, Inc.

Continental Aerospace
Technologies, Inc.

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
MM,
SR e

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

HBRELRE/BE

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

HERUHE/BE

United States of

America ("USA")

EHE2ERE
(&)

Issued ordinary/
registered
share capital
BETEER/
A
US$68,200,000
68,200,000% 7T
US$1

%7

uss4

4E7T

1.

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company
FAFAEIGRIET AL

Direct  Indirect

E# iEE

100 -

100 -

- 100

- 100

- 100

100

R[RREBEY (&

MEBATEE
KRB EEMBABNFHBAOT !

Principal activities

TEEH

Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding

REZR

Design, development and
production of general aviation
aircraft piston engines and spare
parts and provision of aftermarket
services and support for piston
engines

F HEREEBEMERE
BERRREAURATER
BREURERRE RS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(continued)

REREEEY (&

HEAREE @)
FABEBENBATNHBOT : (B)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)
Place of Percentage of

incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ equity attributable

registration registered to the Company
and business share capital TATEGREFAL
Name B3 T A BRTEER Direct Indirect Principal activities
218 SR e BT E# Mg IEEH
Continental Aerospace Germany EUR25,000 - 100 Design, development and
Technologies GmbH production of general aviation
aircraft piston engines and spare
parts and provision of aftermarket
services and support for piston
engines
Continental Aerospace (ElE 25,0008 7t - 100 F HAEREEBEMERE
Technologies GmbH GEEEMREEGURAEER
BRI HERRBE RS
Continental Motors (Beijing) PRC/ Mainland China ~ US$1,000,000 - 100 Sales of aircraft engines and parts
Co., Ltd.*
AEZHH (LX) R/ E 1,000,000% 7T - 100 SHEMEELFHE RSN
BRERLE*
CATIC Helicopter (H.K.) British Virgin Islands/ Us$2 100 - Investment holding
Limited Hong Kong
CATIC Helicopter (H.K.) HBRUEE/BE 2ETT 100 - REER
Limited
i The subsidiary is registered as wholly-foreign-owned * ZWBRABIRBEPBE A ERIMALILA

enterprise under PRC law.

The above tables list the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

SEBERE-

LRILAADEERAHE BN
AFREETEVEREFEREE
BEEABHNAADWBAD B
ER5 MHEMKERDNER
o BLRBBRTES
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2
2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong HKFRS Accounting
Standards (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations) as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income which have been measured
at fair value. The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the

investee).

BHIKE
EuEE

HEMBRRDRESEGSNAE
(TEBEFMAE)) BMHZEBYME
BREEEHER (BEMBEEBME
WEER -BBGHERN (EBGHE
A1) K52 #8) REBABDRABIRER
ERB - ZEUBRETDRBEELN
FEFRER ERATFESFAEME
HWR@ZREREDRATFEFE-
REMBREUBTEN BFRRAEE
BN FREBEHNERAERESR
BYFAiL o

FeEE

REMBREEEEARTARENBEAT
B IEER)BE-_T _NE+Z
AR=+—HLEFEZUBRER B
AREARDERNBEREN ZERE
(BEEEEER) Mhﬂi%l?f*i—i

WIREB AT EEFTS Z A & [0 3R A&
RSt =A#Y BN ERHERK

RERBNEN EERERTIRA
FENUFTERKE LB BEBEEEIR
BN R ERFRHRE AIRAERE
EEHZERE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of
an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’'s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

21

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H

RNEE (D

REERE (7

—RBERT A—EEE NZHERE
R RIZERIE - HEARTERA LD RK
RERTAANZHKRERIELUET
AlxEERFEHEESHEANNKE
ARPEAREERE—VHEEEFER
BN 8E:

(a) HBERKREATDHMREEFTAH
ARG ZEE;

(b) EHMEXHRBFELENERN S K

(0 TEENREEREERER-

MEASNRERFRAENMB®RE
RARARE —HNEAHRER-
MBABZEERBAEBIGIEG#E
ZHESBEEARIF —ERS
fRoEEZSERIEKIEZRIE

B hHEMEE RS S EME DT ER
BRAEBZHRBEE ANKRIFE
RtEm BIELREENIFERED
ZRBEREB BAEERBEAFME
ZRZBEMZABEEEARBDBEE
ke #m WA -BAXRREERE
B R G RZE IR o
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21

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
translation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS

Accounting Standards for the first time for the current

year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current (the “2020
Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

21

2.2

RREE (F

SEBE (@
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in

16 specify the

measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. Since
the Group has no sale and leaseback transactions
with variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate occurring from the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability
is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject
to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

(continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023
and 2024 and concluded that the classification of
its liabilities as current or non-current remained
unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements
and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in
the amendments are intended to assist users of
financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have any
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been
issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, when
they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements3
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without
Public Accountability:
Disclosures?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the
and HKFRS 7 Classification and

Measurement of
Financial Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing

and HKFRS 7 Nature-dependent
Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution

and HKAS 28 of Assets between

an Investor and its

Associate or Joint

venture*
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1,
to HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
Standards — Volume 11 HKFRS 10 and HKAS 77

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

& Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available

for adoption
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are expected to be applicable to the
Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes,
HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the statement of profit or loss, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all
income and expenses within the statement of profit
or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals.
It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation
and disaggregation) and the location of information in
both the primary financial statements and the notes.
Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are
moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as
HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited,
but widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per
Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In
addition, there are minor consequential amendments to
other HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application
permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and
assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation
and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other HKFRS Accounting Standards.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an
entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or
intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial
statements available for public use which comply with
HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application is
permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is not
eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments clarify the date on which a financial asset
or financial liability is derecognised and introduce an
accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment
system before the settlement date if specified criteria
are met. The amendments clarify how to assess the
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance
and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the
amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
financial assets with non-recourse features and
contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in
equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be
applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the
initial application date. Prior periods are not required
to be restated and can only be restated without the
use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the amendments
related to the classification of financial assets is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the
application of the “own-use” requirements for in-scope
contracts and amend the designation requirements for a
hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship for in-
scope contracts. The amendments also include additional
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to understand the effects these contracts have on an
entity’s financial performance and future cash flows.
The amendments relating to the own-use exception
shall be applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated without
the use of hindsight. The amendments relating to the
hedge accounting shall be applied prospectively to new
hedging relationships designated on or after the date of
initial application. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall be applied
at the same time. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H

ElEMERERNERMHE RS
RGN @
ERNBREENBIRREBUHR
SR BTR AT SR E A5
BEEBHHEFABERENEGHTE
FURERMA LT HENEHNR
SREH AR RREPERNIEE
RE RTINS B BR
REAEEN TR NN ERY
BRARKKRERENLE-HE
PG 518 AR R B9 15 3T BB B FE A
NEHEERSEY EETERS
BEHNBERTES - RYH G 48
R 59 12 5T FE F A0 B 14 18 PR 5 B R B
B EA S 45 B 8 A R o A 5T
REEA - BBHBRELEIEIRK
ERUBREEETIRZETERAR
R -BHRSETTEHFEED
MERREEENEANE

BERAUBREERFI10XREBG
ERF28JZETRREBMBRS
ZRFI10RERBGHERF 285
BERREEAHBEATHAGTER
BlZHMNEEHES TEMERTEN
R—=—RER-ZFEITRE ERME
ELENTERBN —BEERR  AiE
BIBERGELEZE2HB TR
EXBIRIAER—BREFNEE
B AR 7 EENRE NGB Z
REENBD A EE AR
REENZBMELATNNGELEZIE
MR AEFEFRAELEER -TA
MBERSERBI10RREBGHEL
552858 Z BT BY Z Al 58 il £ 2% B B4R
BRAGHE AT RN AT RFEF]
3R B B R AR o

79



80

Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited
AEEMZERIRIER AR AR
Annual Report 2024 — = — PYEFELR

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE

31 December 2024 — 2" MF+_"F=+—H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange
rate at a measurement date when exchangeability
is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements
to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When
applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate
comparative information. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
or to the cumulative amount of translation differences
accumulated in a separate component of equity, where
appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

EEMEXRERNEEMHERS
ZRGEHEER @

EBWHEAB21K BT THES
MEAFE—BEERTIRAAS—
BEE URARZATRAENER
TGS EARNNAER
ETERRBER WEMBRERE
RETREETIRANEE A
REMM - MARIETR BRTAE
5 bL B R o W) 44 FE P X S AEET O E
AR EREDANEEBEAY
DERABUSENBE AH R
HBUARBY RENBEEERS
SENBE B - BHEFEIT
BHAEENYEREELETMEL

B2 488
o



2.3

Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited

REMERIZERERAE
Annual Report 2024 —Z — [QEFEF 3R

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards
— Volume 17 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
7 (and the accompanying Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of
the amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

J HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs
IG1, 1G14 and 1G20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of
simplification or achieving consistency with
other paragraphs in the standard and/or with
the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify
that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does
not necessarily illustrate all the requirements in
the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it
create additional requirements. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a
lease liability has been extinguished in accordance
with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply
paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any
resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition,
the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A
of HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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2.3

24

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3 BilEHEREMNEEMEERS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

o HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements:
The amendments clarify that the relationship
described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just
one example of various relationships that might
exist between the investor and other parties
acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

o HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The
amendments replace the term “cost method”
with "at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7
following the prior deletion of the definition of
“cost method”. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments
are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist. The Group's share of the post-
acquisition results and other comprehensive income of
an associate is included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associate are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment in
the associate, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of an associate
is included as part of the Group's investment in an
associate.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate
or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of
significant influence or joint control and the fair value
of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for

within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the
use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use
of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 F|AXEHHBE B

(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for a non-financial asset is
required (other than inventories and deferred tax assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of

profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of

the Group;

or

24 EXEEEER @

FMBREEZRE )

RN SERSPERTIGESTRET
UERBZAEBERIETBEEFER
B e M EPREFE > BIFFE U
BRE - UEMmEEUINZ BEEFRRE
RZBEBERENBEEEZEER
WBIRR IR Z (E 5t A &R RO AT &
HEITSEARRBETFELERED
EEREBBEZBERTEEZREE
(BNBRERFTE #H) -ZEHE
BEREZEBORNEEERBS ARG
*o

A

RTABRT BRAALRERDE
EBZBR

(@ ZAR—BALTHZEBLALR
BERNERRB Mz AL

iy  ERRHFEGEER

(i HEEBEMEREE
17

(i) REEEHALEEBRZA
BXTEEEABNKE ;



Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited

REMERRIEZERARAR

Annual Report 2024 — = — PUEELR

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

3% to 3%
Over the lease terms

Buildings
Leasehold improvements
of 5 to 99 years
20% - 33%
4% - 50%
20% - 25%

Furniture and fixtures
Machinery and equipment
Motor vehicles
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Trademarks

Trademarks are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 30 years.

Product technology, licence and completed
programs

The product technology, licence and completed
programs are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 10 to 30 years.

Customer relationships

Customer relationships are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their useful lives of 15 years.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their useful lives of 1 to 5 years.

24

EXGER @

mREE (FmERD)

PTHBEBZETLEERY D BRAFR
A2 REBEHPUBZER
BEZRABSNRBBAMZAFTE-
BREEZANREREHARTERER
NER - FHERZEFLEENHER
EREREEFHMNEE > WA B

RERCRE-IEAFHRARZE
WEEZ#HEABRBHG EZRDK
REMBEEGE B T LR -

:7:4
72 AR ¥ B AN Rl & AE ] R (B 5 1R 51 3R
WZI0OF TR E R FHUE G L #

EmFE KRR BT A8

FE dm Bl ~ HE AR K B ST Ak Bt B3R A A
AR R EREYER WIZ10E30
FWTESHERERUER LB

EF it
ERRAGREREBREEZABERRE
P WIISENERFRUBRE

HtMETLEERMABREERRERS
BIR W1 ESFNRERAFHUE
AR SN o



2.4

Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited

REMERIZERERAE
Annual Report 2024 —Z — [QEFEF 3R
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability
of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for certain short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Where applicable,
the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:
Leasehold land 2 to 75 years
Buildings 2 to 75 years
Motor vehicles 2 to 5 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of properties (that is those leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases
of office equipment that are considered to be of
low value. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a debt instrument to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial
asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not
subject to impairment assessment.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on the equity investments are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract
containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately. The financial asset host together with the
embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position)

when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive

cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs"”) for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in
credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to

impairment under the general approach and they are

classified within the following stages for measurement

of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets

which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or
as financial liabilities at amortised cost, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include amount due to an
intermediate holding company, amount due to a fellow
subsidiary, trade payables, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and
other payables and amounts due to an intermediate
holding company and a fellow subsidiary)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables and
amounts due to an intermediate holding company
and a fellow subsidiary are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined
above, less any bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions (continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale
of certain products and the provision of construction
services for general repairs of defects occurring during
the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type
warranties granted by the Group are initially recognised
based on sales volume and past experience of the level
of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values
as appropriate. The warranty-related cost is revised
annually.

Product claim provision is made when there are
present expected claims which challenge the safety
of the products. The Group has general liability and
other insurance policies to cover product claims. Initial
recognition is based on historical experience. The initial
estimate of product claim costs is revised annually based
on current year’s development of present expected
claims.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
and an associate, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

Sale of aircraft engines and spare parts

Revenue from the sale of aircraft engines and
spare parts is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the aircraft
engines and spare parts.

Provision of repair and maintenance services for
aircraft engines

Revenue from the provision of repair and
maintenance services for aircraft engines is
recognised over time in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using

the effective interest method by applying the rate that

exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over

the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter

period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of

the financial asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before being unconditionally entitled to
the consideration under the contract terms, a contract
asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the
accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.
They are reclassified to trade receivables when the right
to the consideration becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF scheme.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operate
in Germany are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Defined benefit plan

A subsidiary of the Group sponsors a defined benefit
pension plan as well as a retiree medical and life
insurance plan. Its defined benefit pension plan requires
contributions to be made to a third party trustee
managed fund. The cost of providing benefits under the
defined benefit plan is determined actuarially. Actuarial
gains and losses for the defined benefit plan are
recognised in other comprehensive income and are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the
present value of the defined benefit obligation, less past
service costs and less the fair value of plan assets out of
which the obligations are to be settled.

The Group's accounting policy for defined benefit plans
is to recognise actuarial gains and losses in the period in
which they occur in full in other comprehensive income
in accordance with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits.

24

EXGER @

Hitfg&EF (&)
Bkt (&)

FEERTEHEENHRBRATINES
R2HEAEMHHRFEENHRENK
TetBEl o REMBARREEFHFEZN
AHETH DB R REKRE B H
e RN R IE R RIBIKE 518 R A
A R B B o

EsRHEF a1 &)

FEEN-—XMNBRAREE-—EER
BAUBKREFFEUR—EHRARABRER
BEMASREEE - HEREBH BN
TR ERAE=ZFREEEESMH
Mo RIBEEBH GBI RHEF AL
AHEBREEE  ERENFENER
BmAHMEER@PES A8
rEPEEN DR ET P

EHEEINEENARUEEREMNE
BHRE REBERBNES B
ARBERBHFEEENATE:.

AEEHEREMNFINEAERE
REERAGHENF1IRESEF
EREEnSEENER EHEME2E
WP 2 RSB E R -



2.4

Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited

REMERIZERERAE
Annual Report 2024 —Z — [QEFEF 3R

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements. Interim dividends are
simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and an associate are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing
at the dates of the transactions.
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24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the translation reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates or the
year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment loss under ECL model on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to determine ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by geography and
product type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group calibrates
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e. gross domestic
products) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in
the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment loss under ECL model on trade
receivables (continued)

The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The
Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is
disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired
at least on an annual basis or if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. This
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
as at 31 December 2024 was HK$13,080,000 (2023:
HK$13,841,000). Further details are given in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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BT (ZTR =4 :13,841,000587T) ©
E—SHEBERNGAVERERWE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including
the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its
value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs
of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Further details, are given in notes 13, 14(a) and 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

3.

31 December 2024 —ZEZUF+_F=+—H
BEARGHEE (@

hEt FHEERR (@
BB E (BEI) HE

AEETERESHRTEPIBEIETH
EE (QETHAEEE) BEEFERAE
NBR-EEARTLEESFET —X
BERE > TAEEFEEREDRNEM
RFEET AR HMENBEETAR
B &R 2% BE AR T <& %8 0] SE R 05 Uk O] B
THREANR BEEENREELE T
NIREEEBEETWEISEE BIAT
BREEEMAENESEHAGHEE
FHREE) F BIHIREE RFE
BEEERANGFEREBERELUEE
RNEZXSGHEENRNINHEERZH
R EBENEEN GERRAEER
BEENEENA TEEHAEER
EEEVNALEEENREELEN
HEARRIRS R LEZSHENE
BEOUABEZFRENNRE &
— P HBEARGEMBRERMEE13
14(a)k216°
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision against inventories

The Group reviews the Group's inventories regularly
and at the end of each reporting period, and makes
provision for obsolete items when events or change
in circumstances show that the carrying amount of
inventories may not be fully realisable or are no longer
suitable for sale.

The specific factors considered by management in the
estimation of the provision include types of inventories,
the conditions of the inventories, the forecast inventory
usage and sales. The carrying amount of inventories
as at 31 December 2024 was HK$786,250,000 (2023:
HK$645,985,000). Further details are given in note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Income taxes

Significant judgements on the future tax treatment
of certain transactions are required in determining
income tax provisions. The Company carefully evaluates
tax implications of transactions and tax provisions
are recorded accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislation. Further details are
given in notes 10 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

3.

EXGHET @

et FHRERR (@

FEEE
AEREHRINSEARSHREESR
EEFEE LESHHNBERELCEKNA

FENRBETNERELITEZERIT
BEAHER EKEBEBIFRERE-

CEEAGABREREENRTER
ZEREGFEREE - FERR A
EEFERHBRRBEEBR RIE
THE+ZB=+—HZEFEERET
{E7786,250,0008 7T (ZZ_=
645,985,000/ 7T0) ° E— T IBEINE
BB ImARMEE190

FriR

EREFMSREBHERS BHETRS
HRRMBEIBMEERAE - AR
SEFHETHERZNRBEE > T
[E B MNBEBEE XA GEHEN
ZRILBXZNRBEIE Ut &R
BABRNmMBEC - &E—FHEBHN
REMBIRRMEE10/K300
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31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT

For management purposes, the Group has only one
reportable operating segment, of which the Group
engages in the design, development and production of
general aviation aircraft piston engines and spare parts
as well as the provision of aftermarket services and
support for piston engines. Accordingly, no segment
information is presented.

HEDE
MEEMS A&EERE-—RBAERAER
ZEREDE  HEBAMERKEE
LR RBHNRS - RAEREE X
REHEEZHHNERT ISR &
SEEIE WEEFDE B -

Geographical information HhE &

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEIBEE Y

2024 2023
—EMEF —=E-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
USA EE 1,400,337 1,473,262
Europe BRM 279,685 237,151
Others Hth 125,360 119,773
1,805,382 1,830,186

The revenue information above is based on the

FHERmERRERERZ

location of the customers. FriesthE 5 o
(b)  Non-current assets b)) FEREEE
2024 2023
—E-_MNE —E=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
USA ESJE| 1,558,021 1,602,068
Europe B 480,253 505,879
Hong Kong 5 112,379 117,076
Mainland China A [ g 3t 15,501 10,029
2,166,154 2,235,052

The non-current assets information above is
based on the locations of the assets and excludes
financial instruments.

LHIFRBEEENREE
ZPREME D T A BIEEHT

Ho
=
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT (continued) 4.
Information about major customers

Revenue from each of the major customers, which
individually amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue, is set out below:

HERR (&

FERRZEH

KESFEERZWEZET W T #
FRLEREBRRT Z10%I U E

2024 2023
—E_NmE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Customer A ZEA 450,650 552,471
Customer B =ZFB 371,248 340,209
Customer C ZRC 278,758 322,694
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 5. Ug#s Hthlg A RUgiE 558
NET
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WamammT
2024 2023
—EmE —2_=
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Revenue from contracts with KEEREHZINE
customers
Sale of aircraft engines and spare PR R R 2 Rk E e
parts transferred at a point in time KEHZHE 1,710,658 1,751,844
Rendering of services transferred over FERFRIER 2~ R 2 R
time 94,724 78,342
1,805,382 1,830,186
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 5.

NET (continued)

Wt « E UL A Bz /B8R (2

Revenue from contracts with customer kBERGHZWNE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) WEBFER
2024 2023
“EmE ———
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Geographical markets HE G
USA EE 1,400,337 1,473,262
Europe BRM 279,685 237,151
Others Hih 125,360 119,773
1,805,382 1,830,186

The following table shows the amount of revenue

recognised in the current reporting period that

TRET AR S B SR
SAABRESHTEMNEREINIREE

were included in the contract liabilities at the BEE
beginning of the reporting period:
2024 2023
—EME —E=
HK$’000 HK$°000
FAET FET
Provision of repair and BRI EBSIRAEBRERT
maintenance services for
aircraft engines 10,453 9,679
Sales of aircraft engines and THE R S B Rt 1
spare parts 7,800 7,262
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,
NET (continued)

(a)

Performance obligation

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of aircraft engines and spare parts

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the products and payment is generally
due within 30 days from delivery.

Provision of repair and maintenance services
for aircraft engines

The performance obligation is satisfied over time
as services are rendered and payment is generally
due within 30 days from completion of the
services and customer acceptance.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as
follows:

Wt - E UL A Bl m B 88 (2

(a)

BHEE
FEBBNESEERBSROT

HERE BB R G
BHEEANRNERETHE B

TRBEENRZNEIORRE
o

TERTRIE BB AR IR B IRES

B X BB IR AR5 R B AY
BEfREERETARSE RS
F B30 K A EIHE -

Rt+tZB=+—HB2EEKHRT
BHEME CRERIBO RE
) MR Z BRI

2024 2023
—E-MEF B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Amounts expected to be FEHAS SRR B HE ¢

recognised as revenue:

Within one year —FR 17,309 11,143
After one year —F& 86,790 65,369

104,099 76,512
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,
NET (continued)

(a)

Performance obligation (continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligations which are
expected to be recognised as revenue after one
year relate to repair and maintenance services
for aircraft engines, of which the performance
obligations are to be satisfied within five
years. All the other amounts of transaction
prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations relate to sale of aircraft engine
and spare parts, and repair and maintenance
services for aircraft engines are expected to
be recognised as revenue within one year. The
amounts disclosed above do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.

An analysis of other income and gains, net is as follows:

31 December 2024 —ZEZUF+_F=+—H
Wk~ Hthu A R W a8 588 (2

@ REBYEE®E

DEEFRTERAOECTLAEAR
E—EREISRENRZE
BB RN AERNERDN
ML EERERT FIE
FLEH B RS S B B AR
Ri%ES R AEBRERT D
ERTENEENHEMNRZZE
MEERARN —FRESD S
Wi e LA EERIRSE A

Bf(E

B AR W FESRWT -

2024 2023
—E_NE = —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other income Hitg A
Bank interest income RITHIE A 24,557 28,052
Distributorship fee income DIHEWA 780 783
Interest income on loan to an associate MAEEATIRENERZ
FMEWA 8 373
Management fee income BEEWA 1,676 1,753
Royalty income EREEWRA 6,361 4,807
Others Hih 1,515 743
Total other income Hanasu A 34,897 36,511
Other gains/(losses), net Hthigss ~ (B538) B 58
Gain on deemed disposal of partial BIEHE—RHHEQHD
interest in an associate (note 17) Wmz R MH5E17) 10,097 =
Foreign exchange differences, net INPE IR ZE REF R (18,322) 6,968
Others Hh 11 75
Total other gains/(losses), net Hhsgw s~ (B518) ;348 (8,214) 7,043
Total 4E st 26,683 43,554
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6.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

6. MRIRATEF

AEBEBFRAEF B0, GIA) :

(crediting):
2024 2023
—EME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost of inventories sold* BEGFER A 1,274,542 1,205,791
Cost of services provided* BIRMIRFE Z A 54,137 56,821
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) — fZ&#UR,~ (R #[E]) * =
of inventories** 20,478 (17,482)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME -BMERSEBZINE
equipment (note 13) (Htat13) 42,229 36,286
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZITE (Wit14(a)
(note 14(a)) 14,157 14,472
Amortisation of other intangible HEMEmpEE 2 #iH
assets (note 16)*** (H13E16) *** 85,869 86,669
Employee benefit expense EEGH B (BIEESH)
(including directors’ remuneration):
Wages and salaries TERFH® 263,077 241,520
Retirement benefits and BAREN KRR
contributions 19,069 16,980
Defined benefit schemes (note 29) @A R (at29) 2,120 2,101
284,266 260,601
Provision/(reversal of provision) ERBRBEASEE
for product service bulletin**** (B HE[D]) ** = (2,180) 49,720
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEME -BEAEREZ
plant and equipment***** B8 (WaR) **x** (5) 18,749
Auditor’'s remuneration ZE BN 3,869 3,500
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31 December 2024 —E_UF+_H=+—H

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 6. FRBENEF (2
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBBRRAEEN BN, GEA) ¢
(crediting): (continued) (&
2024 2023
—EMEF = —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Impairment losses under expected FEEAE SESIEIER T 2R E
credit loss model, net of E548 > N pRE[E -
reversal:
— Trade receivables (note 20) —ENE SR (/J/J‘EEZO) 150 427
— Amount due from a fellow —EKREZRMBASRE
subsidiary (note 22) (Htz222) 2,581 =
2,731 427
* Included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of * HALESEERYERL] o
profit or loss.
*x Included in “cost of inventories sold” above. *x HALYTBERERZ]
il Included in “cost of sales”, “selling and distribution *oxk HALESEEEMNERDS) « BHER
expenses”, “administrative expenses” and “research and BivER N TTREEBEER & T

development costs” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

**%*x |n the prior year, total costs of HK$49,720,000 were * ok Kk

provided for the inspection and repair of certain models of
aircraft piston engines in connection with a product service
bulletin. During the current year, the Group has reassessed
the provision and a reversal of HK$2,180,000 was credited
to “other operating income/(expenses)” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

**x%x ncluded in in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

"other operating income/(expenses)”

* kK ok Kk

RS o

BEFEE - RERRBEAST S 4
% 4549,720,0008 T AR E TR
BMEEEHRBER I RE REE-
RAFE  AEBEEGEREBRD
2,180,000 Tst A a8 mkP TH
EEIWA (BER) 1R -

HMEEWA (B
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7.

FINANCE COSTS 7. HBERX
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBRAZSMWT
2024 2023
—E_UE = ——
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14(b)) FHEGBZF B (Kz£14(b)) 13,200 13,373
Other interest expenses HMF B2 H = 141
13,200 13,514
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. ERRTHHEZZME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the REEBHMERZMBRABESL
year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the mARA (T EmRA) - FBABKHE
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 383(1)(a)~ (b))~ (OK(NER AT (HE
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), EEFTER ROIE2HMRE AEE
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance ZEERTHETR ZMENT
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
—E_NE B HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Fees s 1,420 1,420
Other emoluments: HM < :
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EEREYA G
in kind 1,360 1,723
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRETEIHER 18 18
1,378 1,741
2,798 3,161
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(a)

Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive

8. EFRRTHASZME &

(a)

BIIEHRITES

FAEXNFTHBIUFATESZZ

directors during the year were as follows: WEIWT -
2024 2023
—EmE —EI=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Chu Yu Lin, David el 400 400
Li Ka Fai, David =R E 400 400
Zhang Ping iR 320 320
1,120 1,120
There were no other emoluments payable to the 25 G A E AR AT T OB L FE
independent non-executive directors during the TEENME (ZE2Z=
year (2023: Nil). i) o
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8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8.
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)

Executive directors and non-executive

ESRITHESRZME (&)

b) BITEBRIERTES

directors
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
& EMR BK
& BN @ AR ME4a%E
2024 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
—E_mEF FET FET FET FET
Executive directors: HTEE:
Li Peiyin FER 36 - - 36
Zhang Zhibiao REE 36 - - 36
Huang Yongfeng EEIE 36 - - 36
Jiao Yan -3 36 - - 36
Yu Xiaodong FER 36 1,360 18 1,414
180 1,360 18 1,558
Non-executive director;  FHTES !
Chow Wai Kam Bk 120 - - 120
300 1,360 18 1,678
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EFRTHENZME &
REMUNERATION (continued)
Executive directors and non-executive (b) BMITEFRIIEMITEE @
directors (continued)
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration
e 2k ELIN
e BN & SHEIER i Eak
2023 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E_=F FET FAET FET FET
Executive directors: HITEE:
Li Peiyin FER 36 - - 36
Zhang Zhibiao REEMR_BE_=F

(appointed on MAE=REZT)

3 April 2023) 27 - - 27
Huang Yongfeng =2 36 - - 36
Jiao Yan %3 36 = = 36
Yu Xiaodong FER 36 1,723 18 1,777
Zhao Yang (resigned #HERIEI=F

on 3 April 2023) A= BET) 9 - - 9

180 1,723 18 1,921

Non-executive director:  JFETES
Chow Wai Kam BE% 120 = = 120
300 1,723 18 2,041

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2023: Nil).

FEREXCNESFTHEARE
BWEEUMEzZH (CE2EZ=
FrH) -
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9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees included nil executive
director (2023: one). Details of the remuneration for the
year of the five (2023: four) highest paid employees who
are not a director of the Company are as follows:

haEEHES
ILREHEERESSL (ZE2=
F—R)PTEE-AERL (CTF
SR BREHES QIEEAT
B IHSHENT

2024 2023
—E_UE B ——
HK$’000 HK$°000
F#E5T FAET
Basic salaries, allowances and BEXFHE EHENREYH G
benefits in kind 9,413 7,533
Performance related bonuses* TERIBAERATEAL 18,368 14,713
27,781 22,246
* The performance related bonuses are determined * THEREBRIEANSEMEENK

with reference to the operating results and individual
performance during both years.

BEEREAARREE-
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. RAREHER @
(continued)

The number of non-director highest paid employees MEETHHE2REHES (LIS
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as EN g

follows:

Number of employees

EEAH
2024 2023
—E_NE —ET=F
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 B TE
2,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 TE
3,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 8T E
3,500,000 7T - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 T E
4,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 TE
4,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$13,000,001 to HK$13,500,000 13,000,001 B TE
13,500,000 7T - 1
HK$15,000,001 to HK$15,500,000 15,000,001 8 TE
15,500,000 7T 1 =
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10.

INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made
as the Group did not generate any assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year (2023: Nil). Taxes
on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in
which the Group operates.

10.

FRiSR

B B A 2 [ 3 R A R R
EBZERNEN > WA EFEHES
FEREE (CT=F @) o Kt
B 8 SR R 2 IR A R B ASE P
EERSAEBEHEB I REt
Ho

2024 2023
o1 - 3 T =F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET
Current — Elsewhere: BIE—H & -

Charge for the year REME 12,281 12,250
Overprovision in prior years BEFEZBLER (664) (730)

Deferred tax expense/(credit) (note 30) IEIEFRIBRS (K %)
(#1330) 469 (83,026)
Income tax expense/(credit) Fri8fmBEsx,~ (E%) 12,086 (71,506)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Continental
Aerospace Technologies Inc., the Company’s subsidiary
in the United States, began to generate taxable profits.
It was also expected that Continental Aerospace
Technologies Inc. would generate future taxable profits
to utilise some of its tax losses. Therefore, the Group
has recognised deferred tax credit of HK$81,255,000
in profit or loss to the extent that the tax losses would
would be utilised.

RBEE_Z_=F+"A=+—H
LFE ARBREBRZIERST
Continental Aerospace Technologies
Inc. B ELERR AN o 7r FE 5t
Continental Aerospace Technologies
Inc. KRR EL BRG] LUEBAH
EfREGE-Ait AEEENER
HhFE SRR E AR IR %281,255,0008 7T
DA EGERE B AR
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INCOME TAX (continued) 10.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries
are domiciled to the tax charge/(credit) at the effective
rate for the year is as follows:

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H

FRISTR (&2
BEAAREMBARMEEAR &
BEHEEREH EEBRBRA
HHNRBERL AL ERERRES
AR (E%) HERIMT

2024 2023
—EZME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit before tax PRILET R T 68,096 90,703
Tax at the statutory tax rates of REEREIERESEZRIE
respective entities 16,855 22,477
Tax effect of share of results of an DEBERBIEE I MBLE
associate 1,092 1,028
Effect of withholding tax on interest ~ FEIIR H 2K B =B F E WA
income from the USA N & 6,627 6,763
Overprovision in respect of prior years B{EFEE 2 B ZEH (664) (730)
Income not subject to tax BIARRUA (6,736) (8,500)
Expenses not deductible el x 4,619 4,247
Tax losses utilised from previous BEFREEEARIEEE
periods - (9,028)
Deferred tax assets recognised in AR RERRIEBEEER
respect of tax losses and deductible — AJIKINER B ZZEFESDHY
temporary differences previously not R IEE E
recognised (9,707) (87,763)
Income tax charge/(credit) for the year &EREHRES (E%) 12,086 (71,506)

The share of tax charge attributable to an associate of nil
(2023: Nil) is included in “Share of loss of an associate”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

DMEEBRBEATINRNEBEEZAE
(ZEBE-_=ZF:8) Bt AixZ5ER
I E AR P
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11.

12.

DIVIDEND 1. B2
2024 2023
ZEZME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Proposed final - HKO0.5 cent per BEAAKRE—SRKRE®K0.5
ordinary share (2023: HK0.5 cent) B(CT =4 0.581) 46,517 46,517
The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 BE_T_NFEF+_A=+—HLHF
December 2024 is subject to the approval of the E>rBEXRPREEFALBDIRER
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual FEEREBEFAE FHERSAIER.
general meeting.
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. FAREBEREDRFEARGS

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of
9,303,374,783 (2023: 9,303,374,783) in issue during
the year.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is
based on:

Rz

EREABRASENEEREAQATEE
RiEEITAE ABGRERMN RERN
BEHBEE1TE®ER,303,374,783/K
(ZE =4 :09,303,374,783k%) &2
K

BREARBERFNNFEDRE

2024 2023
—E-mE “EBT=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AABEERERIFTE A
holders of the Company & i F) 56,010 162,209
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EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H

12. FAREERESRFEARGS
RREF (&)

Number of shares

Rin& 8
2024 2023
—EZNE TET=HF

Weighted average number of ordinary R I#EFHE 1T

shares in issue during the year =2

il
9,303,374,783  9,303,374,783

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
Nil).

AEEBREE_E_NE+ A
—t+—HIEEETESTETHES
BR(CEZ=ZF 1 HF) o
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. Y% -BER=AE

Machinery
Freehold Leasehold Furniture and Motor  Construction
lands Buildings improvements  and fixtures equipment vehicles in progress Total
KARELH &F HE%E  HRREE  HE0RE HE HRIR L
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
T &7 FEr &7 FEr FE7 FEr FET
31 December 2024 Z3-mE+ZAZ+-A
At 1 January 2024: RZE-ME-B-R:

Cost [ 9,145 152,491 67,665 3,503 545,596 1,618 96,450 876,468

Accumulated depreciation ZithE - (14,000) (27,316) (3,005) (212,594) (1,618) - (258,533)

Net carrying amount REFE 9,145 138,491 40,349 498 333,002 - 96,450 617,935
At 1 January 2024, net of accumulated  RZFZRE-F-R>

depreciation NREsHTE 9,145 133,491 40,349 498 333,002 . 96,450 617,935
Additions AE - - - - 12,121 - 32,092 44,213
Transfers & - - 3,052 - 66,335 - (69,387) -
Disposals HE - - - - (184) - (250) (434)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ REHRHTE (H5)

(note 6) - (5,611) (3,144) (169) (33,305) - - (42,229)
Exchange realignment ERAE (502) (1,162) (245) - (3,949) - (984) (6,842)
At 31 December 2024, net of RZB-ME+-A=1+-R>

accumulated depreciation NREHNE 8,643 131,718 40,012 329 374,020 - 57,921 612,643
At 31 December 2024: RIBZME+ZA=1+-A:

Cost [ 8,643 150,678 69,501 3,503 612,411 - 57,921 902,657

Accumulated depreciation RithE - (18,960) (29,489) (8,174) (238,391) - - 290,014

Net carmying amount REZE 8,643 131,718 40,012 329 374,020 - 57,921 612,643
31 December 2023 ZECZE+ZRE1-A
At 1 January 2023: RIEI=%£-F-H:

Cost S 8,879 151,533 67,440 3,493 364,525 1,618 236,028 833,516

Accumulated depreciation Fithe - (8,079) (24,690) (2,830) (193,795) (1,618) = (231,018)

Net carrying amount REFE 8,879 143,454 42,750 657 170,730 - 236,028 602,498
At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated  RZFZ=%-F—-F>

depreciation NRZsHTE 8,879 143454 42,750 657 170,730 S 236,028 602,498
Additions RE = = - 10 5953 - 63,702 69,665
Transfers o - - 9% - 184,255 - (184,349) -
Disposals HE - - - - (592) - (19,726) (20,318)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ AE3HRITE (H6)

(note &) - (5,618) (2,555) (169) (27,944) - - (36,286)
Exchange realignment ERSE 266 655 60 - 600 - 795 2376
At 31 December 2023, net of RIEZZE+ZA=+-B

accumulated depreciation NREFHE 9,145 138,491 40,349 498 333,002 = 96,450 617,935
At 31 December 2023: RZBZ=F+_A=1-R:

Cost A 9,145 152,491 67,665 3,503 545,596 1,618 96,450 876,468

Accumulated depreciation RitiE - (14,000 (27,316) (3,009) (212,594) (1,618) S (258,533)

Net carrying amount REFE 9,145 138,491 40,349 498 333,002 - 96,450 617,935

Details of the impairment testing of property, plant and

equipment included in the Germany CGU are disclosed

in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BEERERESELEETHME K
EhaBRENANFBERENGS
B mARMES.
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LEASES 14 5
The Group as a lessee FEBEEAEEA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of land, XEBEEMEESEFRFERNE T
buildings and motor vehicles used in its operations. M BFRAEBEEEUHESN M
Leases of leasehold land and buildings generally have BEX M AEFHNHEB—RBIFEETS
lease terms between 1 year and 75 years, while motor FoMABENAB—RA2FEESF—
vehicles generally have lease terms between 2 years and RRIBR T ANEER A [ A& &MU
5 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning ATEERDHABEEE
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a (BEEESE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use RAEFE ZEBGEREEEN
assets and the movements during the year are as IREEKREBNT !
follows:
Leasehold Motor
land Buildings vehicles Total
HELM B¥F "E @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET FAET
As at 1 January 2023 R_E_=F—-HF—H 7,843 255,539 628 264,010
Additions NE - 1,854 580 2,434
Depreciation charge (note 6)  IMER (Hi26) (128) (13,906) (438) (14,472)
Exchange realignment ERAE 10 382 20 412
As at 31 December 2023 and RZBEZ=%F
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—-RB%
—E[mE—-F—H 7,725 243,869 790 252,384
Additions HE - 6,966 1,885 8,851
Depreciation charge (note 6)  $TERI (#1526) (128) (13,314) (715) (14,157)
Exchange realignment b 0 3R B (47) (1,517) (88) (1,652)
As at 31 December 2024 WMZ-E-M&E
+ZA=+-H 7,550 236,004 1,872 245,426

Details of the impairment testing of right-of-

use assets included in the Germany CGU are

disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial

statements.

BEERERREELEETNE
REEEETRERNFM
BRKBREGE M B®RRME
15¢°

145



146

Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited
AEEMZERIRIER AR AR
Annual Report 2024 — = — PYEFELR

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE

31 December 2024 — 2" MF+_"F=+—H

14 LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of the lease liabilities and

14

HE @

TEBEREEA @)

(b)

HERRE

REFE - HEBRZREEK

the movements during the year are as follows: BT .
2024 2023
kS - 3 "=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—B—HZIREE 289,348 294,099
New leases wmiE 8,851 2,434
Accretion of interest recognised FREERNF SIS (HaE7)
during the year (note 7) 13,200 13,373
Payments g (20,896) (20,993)
Exchange realignment fE R AR (1,912) 435
Carrying amount at R+ZB=+—HBZKEE
31 December 288,591 289,348
Analysed into: PaRi=
Current portion RENI D 7,930 7,149
Non-current portion JERENZB D 280,661 282,199
Total =Xl 288,591 289,348

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

HESRNEBYTRERSE

B BHRERWEE39-
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14 LEASES (continued) 14 fHE @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEBESEEBA B
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (0 FHEENRERBEINEENT

relation to leases are as follows:

2024 2023
o1} - 3 2=
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEZHME 13,200 13,373
Depreciation charge of FTREEENENS
right-of-use assets 14,157 14,472
Expense relating to leases of EMEEBEEEMNEBRNER
low-value assets (included in GIATTHEIEER)
administrative expenses) 217 288
Total amount recognised in RIE R D RV ARER
profit or loss 27,574 28,133
(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed (d) HERERAEEREFENGES
in note 34(c) to the consolidated financial AR R FR M 5E34(c) ©

statements.
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15. GOODWILL 15. @E
USA Germany
CGU CGU Total
EERE ZERE
EXER EEXET &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET F#E5T F#ET
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—F—H
Cost D% 385,770 13,439 399,209
Accumulated impairment KR E (385,770) = (385,770)
Net carrying amount REFE = 13,439 13,439
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of N =%F
accumulated impairment —A—HrmE
MNERRHRIE - 13,439 13,439
Exchange realignment FE R - 402 402
At 31 December 2023 I
+ZBE=+—H - 13,841 13,841
At 31 December 2023 and A
1 January 2024 + BA=+—HkK
—EMFE—F—H
Cost B 385,770 13,841 399,611
Accumulated impairment Rt E (385,770) - (385,770)
Net carrying amount REZFE - 13,841 13,841
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of RIZEZTM4
accumulated impairment —A—H/I A
MNERRHRIE - 13,841 13,841
Exchange realignment PE A% - (761) (761)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-WME
+=-B=+—H - 13,080 13,080
At 31 December 2024 RIZZEZME
+-B=+—H
Cost DN 385,770 13,080 398,850
Accumulated impairment HEtRE (385,770) - (385,770)
Net carrying amount EREFE - 13,080 13,080
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GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill

The Group's goodwill acquired through a business
combination has been allocated to the following cash-
generating units (“CGU") for impairment testing:

o General aviation aircraft piston engine business in
USA CGU (“USA CGU"); and

o General aviation aircraft piston engine business in
Germany CGU (“Germany CGU")

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the entire balance
of goodwill was related to the Germany CGU. The
goodwill related to USA CGU has been fully impaired in
prior years.

In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible
assets disclosed in notes 13, 14(a) and 16 that generate
cash flows together with the related goodwill are also
included in the respective CGU for the purpose of
impairment assessment.

15.

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H

[} 4G
B R E AR
FERBBEBAHNEZHEESD

EFTIREELEET ((REELSE
7o) BUETTRIERE

. BRAMEREIELZIRES
REENREELEET (1XE
REEEET) ;&

. ERAMTRETELSFHEER
RERMNREEESE T (EH
BEESET))

A BT NER_E_ZF+_1
=t+—H BEEBERESETERH
REELXBET HEFEREELE T
BRANEEERNBTFERERE.

B ETHENMES bk XM
ZHN 5 MizE13 14(a) R 16FT iR B EEE TR
TREMNYE - BEARE -EREE
EREMETEEERMEMRBMEI
ASHREEEETo
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15.

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Management engaged an independent professionally
qualified valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal
and Advisory Limited, to determine the recoverable
amounts for the impairment assessment. The recoverable
amounts of both cash-generating units have been
determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by management.
The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections
and the growth rates used to extrapolate the cash flows
beyond the five-year periods of the Germany CGU are as

15.

[ X7

mERENR (2
EEERRBIEXCERMGEM T
BT EEFERABAHERAIT R
BN LHEETWEREE MEREE
TETHNPIREOERSBREFRARSE
RERARABZEREEMET
ZRERERAUEEBHENTE
HUBRESRER -BANRREAE
AN RERAREHERESEE
BrIFHRRERENERRNT:

follows:
2024 2023
—E-MEF —EBT=F
Germany CGU EEREELET
Discount rate Hrig= 15.3% 14.2%
Growth rate BREX 2.5% 2.5%
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GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the CGUs as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The
following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of cash generating units
of Germany CGU:

Revenue growth rate — The basis used is determined
based on past performance and the expectations of
market development.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements, and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Based on the above impairment assessment, no
impairment loss has been recognised on other assets
of the USA CGU or the goodwill of the Germany CGU
for both years since the estimated recoverable amount
for each of USA CGU and Germany CGU is above the
respective carrying amount of its assets. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not result in any impairment
loss.

15.

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H

[ X7

mERENR (&)

R ZEBE_NERZBEZ=ZF+"A
=t+t—H BRARFETELEETH
ERAEBESE  TXHAEEEET
BERTEEETRENAFRE R
BRAMKBENSELTEZRR -

WAREX-FITAEEDRBERE
RHGERNTAREE -

BEEMNX-BAREESKEREE
MENEESBRERAEFEN —FF
ERNTHENX TREBAHUX
FRHATHHERMEM -

]

WREX-PIERZITEBRRA K
BREAE BB TR 2 E AR

ERN EHBENGE BRNERREE
TETNERAREELEE TRBNMG
st EERESENHEEENBRIR
HEE MEFE ERRSELET
NEMEENBEREELEE TG
B EmEslNEGE EEERS F
MZERRNEAGEAEZLCHT
TEREMRERRE-
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. HthEREE

Product
technology,
Development licence and
programs completed  Customer
in progress Trademarks programs relationships Others Total
EmBii
g Rk
BRitE BiE CRMiE  EFHE Hitt L
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
31 December 2024 Z¥-mE+-RA=+-A
Costat 1 January 2024, netof ~ RZZE-ME-F—HHY
accumulated amortisation A D Rt 8
and impairment RAE 49,209 210,821 762,947 313,875 4,011 1,340,863
Additions NE 13,935 - m - 28,934 43,640
Amortisation provided during REEHRES (i6)
the year (note 6) - (8,546) (32,538) (42,594) (2,191) (85,869)
Transfers =4 (211) - 211 = = =
Exchange realignment EREE (1,282) (2,07)  (19,992) (4,577) (138)  (28,09)
At 31 December 2024 RZBZME
+ZB=+-H 61,651 200,168 711,399 266,704 30,616 1,270,538
At 31 December 2024: RZBZME
+-A=+-H:
Cost A 220,778 265,592 972,281 543,707 45,806 2,048,254
Accumulated amortisation R BHERAE
and impairment (159,127) (65,424)  (260,882)  (277,003) (15,280)  (777,716)
Net carrying amount REEE 61,651 200,168 711,399 266,704 30,616 1,270,538
31 December 2023 ZE-=¥+ZR=+-H
Costat 1 January 2023, netof ~ RZE-Z&—F—HK
accumulated amortisation A& DR R
and impairment R 108,184 219,289 705,252 352,876 1726 1,387,327
Additions NE 21,196 - 691 - 4373 26,260
Amortisation provided during RERES (it6)
the year (note 6) - (9,319) (33,659) (41,606) (2,085) (86,669)
Transfers =g (81,596) = 81,596 = = =
Exchange realignment ERAE 1,425 851 9,067 2,605 (3) 13,945
At 31 December 2023 R_B_=F
+-B=1+—-H 49,209 210,821 762,947 313,875 4,011 1,340,863
At 31 December 2023: RIE-Z&
+-A=+-H:
Cost WA 209,301 267,626 986,399 544,098 17,246 2,024,670
Accumulated amortisation BB RAE
and impairment (160,092) (56,805)  (223,452) (230,223 (13,2350  (683,807)
Net carrying amount REZE 49209 210,821 762,947 313,875 4011 1,340,863
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16. HthWE\EEE (&
Details of the impairment testing of other intangible BEEERReELETNEMER
assets included in the Germany CGU are disclosed in BEEREBEARNFBRENGFEEMHS
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements. H]RMIFEIS
Management concluded there is no impairment of other ERERA RN_ZE_MOEER_-ZF
intangible assets as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, =+ ZA=+—H HtEEE
details of impairment assessment are set out in note 15 ENRBE REFAGEEFBHNES
to the consolidated financial statements. ISR EE15.
INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. RBEARZEE
2024 2023
—E-MEF B =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Share of net assets DIEFREE 15,501 10,029
Loan to an associate included in FAMRBEE ZHEZE AT
current assets REHNER - 7,158

The loan to an associate was unsecured, borne interest
at 6% per annum and was repaid during the year. As at
31 December 2023, the loss allowance was assessed to
be minimal.

MEEARRHNERSEIRR %
FRE6%TE LERFERNEE I
TEC-F+ZR=+—H FEE
BREBEBRERE-
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17.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 17.

(continued)

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

RBEARZIRE (&

BMERBZFHBNOT

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
Particulars of registration ownership interest
Name issued shares held and business  attributable to the Group Principal activity
RSB &7 s AL R TEERIGHERE
E2T fRinstE RERME EZEAL TEEH
2024 2023
—E-mE “F°=F

BRECHRRNBERMHERAT Registered capital of  PRC/Mainland
(MEREER) RMB1 each China

TREGHENERNERAT FMELALER /B R
(MEREREZ) AR

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
equity interest in JEER# {527 was diluted subsequent to
capital injection by new investors to It IREZZR. A gain
on deemed disposal of partial interest in an associate
of HK$10,097,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year.

17.2 19.7 Research and development

of engineering technology
and electronics
communication technology

TIREMREFRERM
PRItk %

BE_Z_NE+_"_B=+—HIE=E
B> RukEEntrnEZEGEmIsg®
FEBRIEREER RERB S
BERE—RBBMELDTOERZF
710,097,000 B TN A F LSBT

=
at ©
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EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 18. RHATEFARMEEKEZAR
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER TigE
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2024 2023
—EZ@mE —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value JE E IR AR & » A F(E
Ampaire, Inc. Ampaire, Inc. 390 390
VerdeGo Aero, Inc. VerdeGo Aero, Inc. 1,941 1,953
2,331 2,343
The above equity investments were irrevocably HRAEERI R LR AREBRE
designated at fair value through other comprehensive HE > WERAHEEZERET
income as the Group considers these investments to be ERRATESARMEE R
strategic in nature.
INVENTORIES 19. Z&
2024 2023
—EZ@mE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET
Raw materials R ALK 569,504 473,049
Work in progress TH M 191,714 155,650
Finished goods ECy 25,032 17,286
786,250 645,985
TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. FEWEZIRM
2024 2023
—EZ@mE —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Trade receivables B E 5 R 130,540 136,103
Impairment losses TR ES 18 (6,764) (6,659)

Net carrying amount IRMEREE 123,776 129,444
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20.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, where partial advanced payment is required
for certain customers. The credit period is generally 30
days and each customer has been assigned a specific
credit limit by the Group.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk
as 26% (2023: 40%) of the Group’'s trade receivables
were due from one of the Group’s key customers. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

20.

FEURE B AR (2

FAEREEFZEEGRMEIERR
RoRETERME RBEMNEBIRE
EEH—RA308 BEXxEBERE
EROEFEEERE-

REBBRERBFEZBRRNER
BREES -SESECHMA ARG
BoR-_Z-MFE+"A=+—H'=XK
EEEETEEEHRRE RAEXR
EENEWE BRI Z26% (T2 =
F140%) KRBT EER—RBLETERRo
REBUEMREEKE SRR A
FERAERRIEMEERE R
W B Z R A5t B o

REBESHR BREZRRIZEREA
HARMREEERZREDNINT

2024 2023
—E_MNE —E2-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Within 1 month —@A R 89,398 99,239
1 to 2 months —EWEA 20,916 21,786
2 to 3 months mE =18~ 8,993 3,415
Over 3 months BiBE=1EA 4,469 5,004
123,776 129,444
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) FEUWE ZERTR (&

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of EWESERAZBREGREEBEEHN
the trade receivables are as follows: T
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
At 1 January w—A—H 6,659 6,375
Impairment losses, net EEEEFE 150 427
Amount written off as uncollectible  #{§8§ &R el ez £ %8 - (153)
Exchange realignment bE 52 5 £ (45) 10
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 6,764 6,659

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if
past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

RERSHHERREFERERETRE
D Ut BRAEEER - BHEX
ERNBRAEUGEERANZEER,D
MANNEHREHBEE - ZFERB
BMERNMEER SEFHEBERNR
SHMTSNERBESMH EMRK
MRAREBERTEANGERA 5
Eile—RME > BREZRRWAER
BB — & R F LUMEE » 10 B A 58 6l
HITEBPARIER
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20.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. FEWEZIRT (2
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TREHERBFHEREEITNERAR
exposure on the Group's trade receivables using a EEEKBESZRIVEERRNER
provision matrix:
As at 31 December 2024 R-E_mE+-_A=+—H
Past due
al ]
Less than 1t03 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
M# b—EA —ZE=ER ZEAML L
Expected credit loss rate FHEEREX 0.33% 3.40% 18.09%  62.29% 5.18%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FRE#E (FET) 97,468 22,174 2,499 8,399 130,540
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TSR &4 (THT) 325 755 452 5,232 6,764
As at 31 December 2023 RN _E_=F+_H=+—H
Past due
%1 HA
Less than Tt03 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
NH OR—ER —E=ER Z@EAMUL at

Expected credit loss rate FHEEEEX 0.26% 4.24% 18.79% 50.11% 4.89%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) EREEE (&) 106,351 16,938 2,427 10,387 136,103
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEEREEEE (FET) 279 719 456 5,205 6,659
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BHEE

2024 2023
—EMmE = —

HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET

Contract assets arising from sale of ~ $HE R L EHE R BEHFEEN
aircraft engines and spare parts BHEE 5,828 24,187

Contract assets arising from rendering IRMHRFEEENENEE

of services 3,025 -
8,853 24,187

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue
earned from the sale of aircraft engines and spare parts
and the provision of aircraft overhaul services which
have been delivered and the receipt of consideration is
conditional on quality inspection and acceptance by the
customer. Upon quality inspection and acceptance by the
customer, the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to trade receivables. The decrease in contract
assets in 2024 was the result of decrease in sale of
aircraft engines and spare parts at the end of the year.

Included in the Group’s contract assets are amounts due
from the Group’s fellow subsidiary of HK$5,828,000
(2023: HK$24,187,000), which are repayable on credit
terms similar to those offered to the major customers
of the Group. During the year ended 31 December
2024, no allowance for impairment was made since the
management consider that the probability of default
is minimal after assessing the counterparties’ financial
background and creditability. The Group’s trading terms
and credit policy with customers are disclosed in note 20
to the consolidated financial statements.

DT RERX ARSI B2
&R R 2 ERE 2 IR HBREAI WA
BEBEaNEE BUIRREBRERE
TEERERBRBRLAFE -RE
FETEERERRKRE EIRHE
NEENEZREMDESBKREZRK
H-ANEER_ZE_NFRVEEF
RREBE S B ZHERBALDH
AR o

AEBEGHNEECEERREAERRF
Z M B A B FIE5,828,0008 7T (Z &
— =4 124,187,000 7T) » A
REAREFAERTIEZFBLUNG
EEFEE-BE_S_WNE+_A
=+—BLEEE HREEBENMG
RBHAFNUBEEMEARRES
AHEBAOVTTEMR/I AL Z2EIRE
BERB AEFHEZENEZ KR
REEHRPENRGEMBRRWE
200
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for
contract assets as at 31 December is as follows:

GBHNERE (2

ENBEERT A=+ —BNEBK
Els 4 E BRI T

2024 2023
—E_mE —EZ=
HK$’000 HK$°000
FAET FAET
Within one year —FR 8,853 24,187

22. AMOUNT DUE FROM A FELLOW

FEUS R % Bt B 22 B 7RI

SUBSIDIARY

2024 2023
—E_E =

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary FEUX[E % Mt /& A B 3018 18,398 6,957
Impairment losses BERE (2,568) -
Net carrying amount IRMERE 15,830 6,957

The amount due from a fellow subsidiary is trade in
nature, unsecured, non-interest-bearing and has credit
terms of 30 days. The following is an ageing analysis
presented based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance.

BEREAAMNBATDMEBEEZEE
BB AR EEHPRA0KR-TX
HEEREREINRNGAEREZ
ARES D AT o

2024 2023
—EZ@mE 2=
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Within 1 month —EB RN 15,830 6,506
1 to 2 months —EW1EAs = 451

15,830 6,957
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AMOUNT DUE FROM A FELLOW 2. FRBRERMBATMRIE @&
SUBSIDIARY (continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FEW R 2 I 8 2 B FRIB 2 i E 5 18
the amount due from a fellow subsidiary are as follows: HEEBWT !
2024 2023
—EmEF —EZ=
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET
At 1 January w—B—H = =
Impairment losses, net HEE R 558 2,581 =
Exchange realignment bE 52 5 £ (13) -
At 31 December R+-B=+—H 2,568 =
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. JA(HFRIE-EREHMEUERRR
RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
—EMmE —2_=
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Prepayments TEfIRIA 23,164 19,526
Deposits and other receivables e R EMEUERR 42,089 46,981
Impairment allowance BB (13,610) (13,849)
Total ast 51,643 52,658
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23.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental
deposits and deposits with suppliers. An impairment
analysis is performed at each reporting date by applying
a loss rate approach with reference to the historical
loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to
reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate. The gross amount
of other receivables under lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)
is HK$13,610,000 (2023: HK$13,849,000) because
the receivables are in default or there is information
indicating that the debtors are in severe financial
difficulty.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
other receivables are as follows:

23.

FA(TFRIA ~ $ & R H {th FEUXER TR
(#)
RehHEMEWRRETEALBER
EREEFRS - NEREAH &
ERRABEEXZIUZ2EAERDN
BEBEERETRHES M -AEE
FE SR E M R B E AR R R 2k
OB TER (B A) - BN EU
RAREXTBENBERNEBATER
EMBRE FHIb 2HRBEHEERE
(BEERE) BTHEMEWRERR
48%E713,610,0008 7T (=
13,849,000 7T) ©

HthEW ARz BEBRREEEZEN
T

2024 2023

—FmE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
At 1 January t—H—H 13,849 14,159
Exchange realignment bE 7 S (239) (310)
At 31 December K+ZB=+—=H 13,610 13,849

The ECL of remaining deposits and other receivables
were assessed under 12-month ECL. These relate to
debtors for which there was no history of default
and the amounts have not been past due. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023,
deposits and other receivables under 12-month ECL was

the loss allowance on

assessed to be minimal.

BT REMEBRERRNEBEREES
BiERT_ERBEREEBEAEMNMG
ZERTEEBNCHNEHZABRK
ZETHRUREBP - R_BE_MER
—EZF+ZHA=t+—H'+ZM
BREAEEHRNRS KHAME R
MBI BEEETEAENY
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RERBAEEFEMREMEFR

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Cash and demand deposits B& REHE™R 199,466 242,580
Time deposits with original maturity WEREREIHEEA=@A
of less than three months when UTFHERER
acquired 44,052 3,837
Cash and cash equivalents REMRRESEEY 243,518 246,417
Time deposits with original maturity UWERRIIBEHA=ESMU L
of more than three months when WEBREFE™R
acquired 555,940 628,863

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances and time deposits of the Group denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB") amounted to HK$157,262,000
(2023: HK$162,152,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China'’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and one year
depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective time
deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default.

REREHEF AEBUARE TAR
B HENRESRIRTERETEHE
MA157,262,0008 T (ZE-_=F:
162,152,000/ 7T) - AR RAEMH
RiBEMETE > AT BRIFPE A
(OMNEE B IRAR G ) Kz (45 BE ~ S B K (TEE
BEATE) AEBRELFZREREE
THEXFENRTHEAREEBAH

thEs-

RTRESBRESHBTERA LT
HMERAFAB -EREFRHARNF—X
E-FAFE SBEERNDIFRTSE
SRR > M2 A8 FE B9 T B 77 AR R 5t
BRTEFREREREIEBRNE
TR REE B EEREZRIT
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25.

26.

AMOUNTS DUE TO AN INTERMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY AND A FELLOW
SUBSIDIARY

The amounts due to an intermediate holding company
and a fellow subsidiary are unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and repayable on demand.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end

25. EEPREZERABRERMEL

Bl TRIR

BN REER RS REZRNE RSN
BARBIER Tt ERAREXREE

26. FEHEZIR®

RREMER BNESRAILEZH

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as FAZEREBR DA T -
follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Within 1 month — @B N 79,362 86,981
1 to 2 months —EmEA 47,442 44,596
2 to 3 months M ZE =18 H 4,434 7,001
Over 3 months BiE=1EA 630 2,212
131,868 140,790

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and
normally settled on 45-day terms.

ZEERNEZRMATFERE —

A IZASH EABR A5 5 ©
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OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND 27. HhFE{IERTR - FEst & AR BE
PROVISIONS
2024 2023
—E-ME B =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Other payables (note a) HAET IR (H152a) 73,056 100,202
Accruals fEE & B 97,153 94,586
Provisions (note b) B 15 (Watb) 119,830 115,722
290,039 310,510
Portion classified as current portion DA A RENER 9 YR (249,119) (272,767)
Non-current portion JEMENEL 3 40,920 37,743
Notes: WE -
(a) Except for deposit payables which are repayable or (a) PBRIEUN D A I E S H ke > FEE

refundable upon receipt of the old replaced engines, other

payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term

of three months.

(b)

BRERENELESI AMEMIRK
MAE FHMERA=M@A -

2024 2023

—E-mE TET=ZF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Warranty provision RIEE 38,473 34,283
Product claim provision EnREEE 55,256 51,686
Other provisions Hh s 26,101 29,753
119,830 115,722

Portion classified as current liabilities 484 R8N &EM 2D (78,910) (77,979)
Non-current portion JERENEL 40,920 37,743

For warranty provision, the additional provisions made
and the amounts utilised during the year amounted
to HK$39,707,000 (2023: HK$14,351,000) and
HK$34,552,000 (2023: HK$7,778,000), respectively. For
product claim provision, the additional provisions made
and the amounts utilised during the year amounted to
HK$3,901,000 (2023: HK$40,939,000) and nil (2023:
HK$22,617,000), respectively. Other movements in the
warrant provision and product claim provision are mainly
related to exchange realignment.

MREREEMS  2FEFHNES
BEKRMEAESEED A 439,707,000
BT (ZTE =4 14,351,000
7t) 234,552,000 T (ZE =4 !
7,778,000 7T) - hEMRBEBEM
SOAREFHPBEIINEBERFTASE
DH)%A3,901,0008 T (ZE =4
40,939,000 7T) T (ZT =%
22,617,000 7T) - REEERERR
EEENHEMESH T EHERRES
ffl o
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27.

OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND
PROVISIONS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(continued)

The Group provides warranties ranging from one to three
years to its customers on certain of its engines. The amount
of the provision for the warranties is estimated based on
sales volumes and past experience of the level of repairs
and returns. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing
basis and revised where appropriate.

The Group is currently involved in legal proceedings related
to product liability claims. An estimate for the probable
costs has been made for these claims as product claim
provision. This estimate has been developed in consultation
with the Group’s insurers, legal counsels, historical
experience and is based upon an analysis of potential
results. In the opinion of the Company’s directors, these
proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the
Group's consolidated financial statements. The product
liability provisions are made for any present expected
product liability claims as a result of the assessment at
the end of the reporting period. The estimation basis
is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where
appropriate.

27.

Hth (AR - st B AR A

(#)

st (48)

(b)

()

AEERERDEHRAE T REM
NF—E=FNREH -REFHS
BRBEHEBEBENEERBREKT
ZRBEE AERFBERIZMLE
B W EEREE HETES -

FEEENBAREREERERH
BYERSRR - EHZFREIBAER
RETE FRERRBERE =B
LD AERTELARERNRREAR
RrrBEmmEE REBEER I
ERNHEBEEGERNIMEH A 27
EERR ZEFEEFBBIEHE
EENGAVBRREEEATAE
BE-EREEEAEDHERSHRT
EHNERERMARERSEREME
Lo AEEBFERNZEEREE W
BEREHEHEITES
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28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28. GH&EMRE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHNEENEEUT
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
ZB-mE C—T-=fF C"F-=
+=8 +=A —H
=+—H =+—H —H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET FET
Advances received from B EFRFIE
customers
Provision of repair and TR RIS BN AEE
maintenance services for RERH
aircraft engines 104,099 76,512 45,806
Sale of aircraft engines and HE RIS ENE R E YT
spare parts 6,938 7,800 7,262
Total a3t 111,037 84,312 53,068
Analysed into: D
Current R 24,247 18,943 16,941
Non-current JEREN 86,790 65,369 36,127
Total a5t 111,037 84,312 53,068
The increase in contract liabilities in 2024 and 2023 A CENER_EI=F /588
was mainly due to the increase in advances received BIEANTH = F AR SR (AR 2 ik
from customers in relation to the provision of repair and HERERFBHENERT L RIBE

maintenance services for aircraft engines. Ao
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29.

DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS

Continental Motors United Auto Workers
Pension Plan (“UAW Pension Plan”)

The Group has a defined benefit pension plan. It is a
pension plan for the United States employees which
require contributions to be made to a separately
administered fund. This benefit pension plan is funded.
Under the plan, the employees are entitled to monthly
retirement benefits or early or postponed retirement
benefits when they have early or postponed retirements
subject to certain conditions.

Continental Motors Post-retirement Life &
Health Plan (“Life & Health Plan”)

The Group provides certain additional post-employment
medical and life benefits to employees in the United
States. These benefits are unfunded. Under the plan,
the employees are entitled to receive post-employment
medical benefits.

The actuarial valuations of the present value of the
defined benefit plan obligations were carried out as
at the end of the reporting period by Newport Group,
Inc., a qualified actuary, using the projected unit credit
actuarial valuation method.

29.

EREEFEERE
KEESEENE S SET ABRAKEE
(TUAWSE A 51811)

AEREABTHREMNEBAREE &
SHEIAHHEREENRAKEE
AMBILEERPFEMHER - ZEF
BRATFEERIES - RIFZTE
BEAEZAWERAKER > 3R
SRFPUEEBERN AEZAREAN
HEWBGR BRI M AEMNE TIF
o

KEESEHBR AR ASREE
(TAS st E)
rEEREERERMHESE TERIMRA
BEBEMASEHN RERARRE
& RIFZAETE BEAEWEBCRKE
BREN-

EHEGENFHECRENBEGED
ENewport Group, Inc. (& & &5 & 6M)
RREHARFEREFEAUEERE DN
BEIA#E T
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DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS
(continued)

The trustees review the level of funding in the plan by
the end of each reporting period. Such a review includes
the asset-liability matching strategy and investment risk
management policy. The trustees decide the contribution
based on the results of the annual review.

The plan is exposed to interest rate risk, the risk of
changes in the life expectancy for pensioners and equity
market risk.

The principal assumptions used at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H
29. FHEEAEHIEE E

REARSREGHPERAIEHENE

SKF-ZBTEEEEERRETE

BERKRERBREEREK REARE
FEBSNNERRERNEE-

ZetBAZFEER RKRKABNE
HEmE AR KRS RRE-

RBREMREANTIZ/RHIIUWT

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=
Discount rate ITIRE
UAW Pension Plan UAWR K& 5T & 5.42% 4.47%
Life & Health Plan ANSE#EE 5.27% 4.65%

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant

RESHREBERBRNEESR

assumptions at the end of the reporting period is shown EARIITAT
below:
Decrease Increase
in defined in defined
benefit benefit
Increase plan Decrease plan
in rate obligations in rate obligations
EEEN EHET
SRR HRISHE
LlbEEH pe R LEE T & ¥
% HK$’000 % HK$°000
FET F#r
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_ME
+=B=+—H
Discount rate FIRE 1 (5,338) (1) 6,519
As at 31 December 2023 R_ZZ=4F
+ZB=+—H
Discount rate WREK 1 (5,201) (1) 6,201
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29.

DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS
(continued)

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined
based on a method that extrapolates the impact on
defined benefit plan obligations as a result of reasonable
changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the
reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a
change in a significant assumption, keeping all other
assumptions constant. The sensitivity analysis may not
be representative of an actual change in the defined
benefit plan obligations as it is unlikely that changes in
assumptions would occur in isolation of one another.

The total expenses recognised as administrative expenses
in the Group’s profit or loss in respect of the plans are as
follows:

29.

EFEEAEEE E

FRBREDRDRBERREARE
ERRVLEZSEEHHEHEBH G
BEEZREFHEMERE -#RE
DRBER-—HERNRKNOE FrE
HithR®RFEFAE) MIFH -BRED
RO AEEERBAGHHEEHNER
e AZERRVAEBETEE
BEL

MARE N AERETRBERRIT
HEEERAN@RAZNT :

2024 2023

—E_NE —EBT=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current service cost BDER AR 75 B 4 2,043 1,993
Net interest expense MEZHFEE 77 108
Net benefit expenses B B8 2,120 2,101
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DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS 29.
(continued)

The movements of the defined benefit obligations and
the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H
EEEANHIEE E

EEER A EERHBEENAT
ERBMT :

Defined benefit Fair value of
plan obligations plan assets Total
THRETHAEE HEAEENATE At
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECmE C“S-=F CZE-ME "S°-F CZE-ME "B=F
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January ®—B—A 52,824 46,878 (49,897) (43,248) 2,927 3,630
Pension cost charged to HABENERERE
profit or loss
Current service cost BERF AL A 2,043 1,993 = = 2,043 1,993
Net interest expense/(income) RIEZH/ (KA) 38 2,321 2,283 (2,244) (2,175) 77 108
Sub-total included in profit or loss 5t A#B# A /N5t 4,364 4,276 (2,244) (2,175) 2,120 2,101
Remeasurement losses/ REM2 KRR
(gains) recognised in other Bt EEE/ FIE)
comprehensive income
Returns on plan assets (excluding  stE|EERIR (FEEFA
amounts included in net interest  F| B3% HFEEMNEE)
expense) - - (2,263) (3,720) (2,263) (3,720)
Actuarial changes arising from AOBREDELENEER
changes in demographic )|
assumptions 317 417 - S 317 417
Actuarial changes arising from BRREDELNEER
changes in financial assumptions £ (4,743) 2,523 - - (4,743) 2,523
Actuarial changes arising from REREELNGER
experience adjustments 23 (167) 190 - - (167) 190
Sub-total included in other SAHMZERED
comprehensive income NE (4,593) 3,130 (2,263) (3,720) (6,856) (590)
Others Hith
Contribution by employer BEHR - = (2,153) (2,220 (2,153) (2,220
Benefits paid B &7 (2,094) (1,506) 1,596 1,506 (498) =
Exchange realignment ERHE (307) 46 326 (40) 19 6
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 50,194 52,824 (54,635) (49,897) (4,441) 2,927
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29. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS
(continued)

The following is an analysis of the defined benefit

29. TEFEEFFHEREE

UTHRAERZEEENEEEM
MBS RARPAED M

plan obligations of the Group for financial reporting

purposes:
2024 2023
—EZ@mE —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Net defined benefit plan assets RiFE BN RERD
recognised in the consolidated TCREENFEEESRE
statement of financial position 8,966 -
Net defined benefit plan obligations iR &HHAR REERH
recognised in the consolidated TREENFFEEEEE
statement of financial position (4,525) (2,927)
Net defined benefit plan assets/ EEEMNFEEE
(obligations) FE (BT FE 4,441 (2,927)

The major categories of the fair value of plan assets of

UAWRAKZ BN B EENATE

the UAW Pension Plan are as follows: ZEZHERWMT

2024 2023
—EME -

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Equity instruments AT A 26,824 25,342
Debt instruments BEHITA 24,894 21,616
Others Hih 2,917 2,939
54,635 49,897
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DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS
(continued)

The Group expects to contribute HK$2,638,000 (2023:
HK$2,614,000 for the year ending 31 December 2024)
to pension plans for the year ending 31 December 2025.

Since Life & Health Plan is unfunded, there are no plan
assets for the disclosure for the Life & Health Plan for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The average duration of the UAW Pension Plan as at
31 December 2024 is 10 (2023: 11) years. The average
duration of the Life & Health Plan as at 31 December
2024 is 8 (2023: 8) years.

29.

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H
EEEANHIEE E

FEBBEARBE_SE_HEE+_8
=t+—BLEFERZERASAMH
#2,638,000B8 T (CE_=F #HE_
E_NE+_A=Z+—RHIEEMHRR
2,614,000 7T) ©

HRASBERABRAZES HE
EZZ_NFERZZEZ=F+ZAH
=+ HEFEUEEMASEES
BIMNStEIEERE -

ATEMNE+ZB=+—HUAW
BHRESHIBWFEFHEHERBZI0FE (ZF
TEZEINE) RIBEWNE+A
=+—B> ASRESEINTEEHR
ASE (CE =4 :85F) o
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30. DEFERRED TAX 30. RIERIA
The movements in the Group's deferred tax liabilities and KEREBBELERBEENREENE
assets during the year are as follows: ER N
Deferred tax liabilities IRIEIRIEAER
Fair value
adjustments Accelerated
arising from depreciation
acquisition of and Right-of-use
subsidiaries amortisation assets Total
WM B AT
EENATHE
HE MENEREH ERAEEE a
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=fF—F—H (172,597 (113,448) (61,567) (347,612)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to KEFA/ (0F) BREH

profit or loss during the year EERIE (H2E10)

(note 10) 18,937 (13,758) 2,179 7,358
Exchange realignment EREE (2,057) (1,415) (97) (3,569)
At 31 December 2023 RZZ2Z=F+"A=+—H (155,717) (128,621) (59,485) (343,829)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to AEH A/ (0B BEM

profit or loss during the year EERIE Bzt 10)

(note 10) 10,707 (16,739) 1,172 (4,860)
Exchange realignment ERHE 4,994 3,226 399 8,619
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RZZEZME+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024 HIEERIES ERLE (140,016) (142,134) (57,914) (340,064)
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30. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30. RIEMRIE (B2
Deferred tax assets IRERIEEE
Loss available
for offsetting
against future Provisions Lease
taxable profit and others liabilities Total
AT {3 R 2R
FEFMEF 2
B BERE M HEAR a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 R_E_=F—HA—H 49,016 60,739 68,581 178,336
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profit "&£t A/ (H15) BHEH

or loss during the year (note 70) HEIERRIE (H7210) 67,260 8,911 (503) 75,668
Exchange realignment ERAE 1,091 119 103 1,313
At 31 December 2023 RZIE-_=F+"H=+—H 117,367 69,769 68,181 255,317
Deferred tax credited/(charged) AEFA/ (0B BEH

to profit or loss during the year EERIE (WzE10)

(note 10) (2,610) 6,648 353 4,391
Exchange realignment ERAE (2,247) (539) (460) (3,246)
Gross deferred tax assets at RZZEZME+-B=+—H

31 December 2024 NEIERIBEELE 112,510 75,878 68,074 256,462
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30.

DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30. RIEIRTH (&
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets RABIR ETEREERNBEENRE
and liabilities have been offset in the consolidated BERGEMBRIERFEND - LUT
statement of financial position. The following is an AREBR ZRIERMIBEAGRUNMBRE
analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for FRPRIED T
financial reporting purposes:
2024 2023
—EME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised 4R & B4 #S5 AR N R R
in the consolidated statement of ZIRERIBEEE S
financial position (83,602) (88,506)

At 31 December 2024, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses
amounted to HK$642,854,000 (2023: HK$651,577,000)
that would expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits and HK$335,232,000
(2023: HK$422,395,000) that may be carried forward
indefinitely. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these tax losses as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the
tax losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entity.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

A _E_NE+_RBA=+—H &%
B EMREIRERKERREFN A
AR —ZEEERNIBENRARIE
E518642,854,0008 T (T2 - =
651,577,000 7T) %335,232,000%8 7T

(B =4 : 422,395,000 7T) 0] &
PREBASEHMN Rt NIBES B HEDIELER
BEE -HRERAREDLIHERE
BAKARER S ARIEE BRI
FERMEF RIEERZERNIEFEIE
MR EAURIEIRIBE E ©

ARBRAERRIKSTRESEHWEFR
BRER-
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SHARE CAPITAL 31. g
2024 2023
—EMEF S ——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Authorised: EE
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 10,000,000,0005% & i%
HK$0.10 each H{E0. 108 T2 B 1,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRER
9,303,374,783 ordinary shares of 9,303,374,783K &K
HK$0.10 each H{E0. 108 T2 ZiEAR 930,337 930,337

There was no movement of the issued share capital
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting held on 28 May 2014,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants to contribute to the
business development and growth of the Group and
to enable the Group to recruit high-calibre employees
and attract or retain human resources that are valuable
to the Group. Since the adoption of the Scheme, no
options have been granted, exercised, lapsed, cancelled
or outstanding thereunder.

Major terms of the Scheme include:

1. The purpose of the Scheme is to provide
incentives to the participants.

2. The participants of the Scheme are any individual
being employees, officers or consultants of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries including
any executive or non-executive directors thereof
whether employed in Hong Kong or any part of
the world.

32.

A=+— EIJtEIE’ BEITRALE
g o

fmie st 2l

RIE—NERARB-+N\BEFT2R
RBEFRKG L AABARMNT —1BE
s 8 (MZst 8l BNAHEAER
PEBERERBMEFEHERZGER
SEERBHB LB UEREER
BESIBIBERFE T TR I ZH A
EEEFEEBEZ AL BFRMZE
k> imiR iRt 8Ty T E K
WA RITEZ BRI

ZEtE 2 T BIFRERE

o

R
alll

SRS EM2EERENE-

2. ZstB 2 2HBERFTATHHE
FAMRBABDEEERERE
tEAZES SRBENERE
FERAL SFEERATIIF
HITES-
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Major terms of the Scheme include: (continued)

The total number of shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme,
together with all options to be granted under
any other share option schemes of any member
of the Group, must not in aggregate represent
more than 10% of the total number of the
Shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the
Scheme. The Company may refresh this 10%
limit at any time subject to prior approval given
by its shareholders at a general meeting. The
overall limit on the total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme, together with all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under any other
share option schemes of any member of the
Group, must not exceed 30% of the total number
of the Shares in issue from time to time. No
options may be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of any member
of the Group if such grant will result in the said
30% limit being exceeded. As at the date of
this annual report, the total number of securities
available for issue under the Scheme was
461,959,100 Shares, representing approximately
4.97% of the total number of the Shares in issue
as at the date of this annual report.

32.

RietEst® (i)

ZEt B2 EBHEMREE | (B

RITHEREZFERLE A
B ERREANERT AR
BRBWE A E MR E
BHZBEBEREMAIEET
Z2ARRERMD (TP 88 &
BBBRZFAEARMNEBREE
TIRIDUEEZ10% o A B A HE
BB Hra%210% L FR > BN IRER
AELERRELME RITE
REZSAATEMERTEZ
FBERITEERE ERTHE
BEAEETAKREQATNE
o] L fth B AR R 51 8 4% 1 e R
TEZMBHERTEBRE
AIREE T Z R AR S RSB
TREZEITRIDEEH Z230% o i
BRIEZSTERAEBERALE
B B9 (] E At BE B R T B R
HEREEHSBE EM30%
ZERBAFIRHERE RN
NERBH RIEZ B AT
T2 %5488 7461,959,1008%
B HERAFHRBBPESET
AR KB 2 %94.97 % ©
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Major terms of the Scheme include: (continued)

The total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options (whether
exercised, cancelled or outstanding) granted or to
be granted under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company to each eligible
participant under the Scheme in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number
of the Shares in issue as at the proposed grant
date.

An option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme at any time during a
period of 10 years commencing on the date
which the Board may determine at its discretion
but such date shall not be earlier than three
months after the date of the grant of such option
is made.

An option granted shall remain open for
acceptance by eligible participants for a period
of 28 days from the date of the grant of such
option together with a non-refundable payment
of HK$1.00.

32.

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H

RfetEst® (i)

ZEBT T ERREE (&

4. RER+ZERHBERTER
BZAA B REAARERNEME
RiETEEBN& B & EIR
TEEERSEERNZBRE

(FRmBETHE - BEEHEIE KT
) MBT R FETZRMNE
g A REEEERLANESR
TROBEZ1% -

5. B R IR R & 5T 8 2 RS
BEFEHRETHNEH (IE
HEBHASENREMBERE
REBBHE=@A/) E5t+FH
P BERF AT o

6. FENBERERELB%B28
HREERERIHEERZH
B WAL A AREINIE
1.008 7T 0
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Major terms of the Scheme include: (continued)

7. The exercise price of an option shall be the

highest of:

(a)

(o]

the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the date of the grant of the option,
which must be a business day;

the average of the closing prices of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of
the grant (subject to acceptance) of the
option; and

the nominal value of the Shares.

8. The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a

period of 10 years commencing on 28 May

2014 and thereafter for as long as there are

outstanding options granted and accepted

pursuant thereto prior to the expiration of the
said 10-year period and in order to give effect to
the exercise of any such options.

Share options did not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 31 December
2024 and at the date of approval of these financial

statements, there were no share options outstanding

(2023: Nil).

32.

RietEst® (i)

ZEtBl 2 T BIERBE  (B)

7. BREZTEEBARSTIZER
SR

(@ RERERLBAH GRS
EER MXFASARE
RPETH ZIRDRTHE ;

(b) MREEZBRERH (RE
#4) BRI AEE XA
REXZFrE R &RERMRA
Iz P FHERHE; &

(0 RKRIPEE-

8. ZstBlH_ZE-—WFERA
“+tNHES+EHBAEMK
B 77 mpt L+ 8 & m Al
EREKREMZHRITERER
R EIITE

BREIEETHAAZAEREIRN
RERRE ERREZ 1R

RIEZ=F—-A—-B-ZF°=
TIZRA=T—B - ZFMEE+ZA
St BERRZEMBERREMLER
H &\ (CTT=F 8 HRTEZ
FE AR HE o
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RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 62 to 63 of this annual report.

The reserve fund of the Group represents the statutory
reserve of certain subsidiaries operating as foreign-
owned enterprises in Mainland China. Pursuant to
the articles of association of these subsidiaries and
the relevant PRC Company Law, the subsidiaries shall
make an allocation from their profit after tax at the
rate of 10% to the statutory surplus reserve fund, until
such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of
the subsidiaries. Part of the statutory surplus reserve
may be capitalised as the subsidiaries’
capital,
capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered

registered
provided that the remaining balance after the

capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve will be
reclassified to retained profits upon the disposal of the
subsidiaries.

The share premium represents the difference between
the par value of the Company’s shares issued and the
consideration received for the shares issued.

The asset revaluation reserve of the Group represents
gain on property revaluation of HK$130,615,000 upon
transferring an office unit from property, plant and
equipment to investment property in 2019.

During the year, certain unlisted equity investments were
liquidated and the fair value reserve was transferred to
retained profits.

33.

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H

B
REEBRAERBEFENHETTE

RESBHPRARERFE2ECIEILEGHE
mEHFREH o

FAEBRESENPEAMMUIIE DR
(FAREZETHB AT Z AT
Ho-REZEWBAENABERK
MHEPRBERAEE ZEWEB QB EHF
HBRBEFIZI0%MNFIXBEELT
Bt BEERMBEEEEZS
MWEABZEMER250% WD IETE
REIBRAZSEWBRARZEME
ToMHEERMEBZG TERAD
REZEWBABFMEAR225% %
%ﬁ#¢£WF”EW&%%%%
MPEERT R

R EEEALBDEHETRNEER
BWEHTRONEZERE

AEBEEEGRAEENR_F—H
FER—EMAEHYE -BMERRE
HEEREVERYEEGZREA
130,615,00078 7T ©

FARCATIHFLMREREWRFE A
FE#FBEEERFEN-

181



182

Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited
AEEMZERIRIER AR AR
Annual Report 2024 — = — PYEFELR

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BA75$R R MizE

31 December 2024 — 2" MF+_"F=+—H

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of HK$8,851,000
(2023: HK$2,434,000) in respect of lease
arrangements for buildings and motor vehicles.

=
:#ﬂ'\ P

(a)

SRERERME

FEFREXS

BHE_Z-_NE+_

B=+—

HEFE x&EBAFETFTR
AEHERHZERREEE
RHEEGENIIFREEMS

8,851,000 (Z&E =

2,434,000 7T) ©

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from b) REEFHEENEREEE
financing activities
2024 —E-—mE
Amount

due to an Amount

intermediate due to

Lease holding a fellow

liabilities company subsidiary

EmEER ERERZMNE

HEaR AEARE ARRIE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET FET

At 1 January 2024 RZZ2ZME—-/A—H 289,348 25,117 272

Changes from financing cash flows RERERELD (7,695) 779 (272)

New leases WHE 8,851 - -

Exchange realignment ERRE (1,913) (1,257) -

Interest expense FEZH 13,200 - -

Interest paid classified as operating cash flow SDEALERLRENSHFE (13,200) - -

At 31 December 2024 RIBZMFE+-A=+—H 288,591 24,639 -
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities (continued)

2023

SeERERERNE (@)

(b)

MEEBEENARED (@

Amount
due to an Amount
intermediate due to
Lease holding a fellow
liabilities company subsidiary
EATEER EORRNE
HE&E NSESE UNSERE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 R_E_=&F—HF—H 294,099 25,739 5,580
Changes from financing cash flows MERERELE (7,620) (1,288) (5,308)
New leases MHE 2,434 - -
Exchange realignment ERAE 435 666 -
Interest expense FEZH 13,373 = =
Interest paid classified as operating cash flow DEALLELRENBHIE (13,373) = =
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=5+"F=+—H 289,348 25,117 272
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

35.

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

34. REWMERERME @

() MHERERLAE
SARSRERNBERER

statement of cash flows is as follows: HAEZEN T ¢
2024 2023
—ENE -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Within operating activities R EEEA 13,417 13,661
Within financing activities RREEERN 7,695 7,620
Total =11 21,112 21,281
COMMITMENTS 35. KifE

The Group had the following contractual commitments

at the end of the reporting period:

FEBRBREPRBUTEHOKIE !

2024 2023
—E@mE —2_=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Plant and machinery R 5= R 1% 28 7,955 6,567




36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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In addition to the transactions described in

notes 22 and 25 to the consolidated financial

36.

R 7532 5
(@) BESHBRRME22K250

M2z RF 5 REBRFRENT

statements, the Group had the following UTHEBARS
transactions with related parties during the year:
2024 2023
<o 1 - TET=EF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Jiok=3 FET FAET
Interest income on loan to mkE A BRENER
an associate ZH B WA (i) 8 373
Sales to a fellow subsidiary mE R B ARHE (ii) 371,248 340,209
Purchases from a fellow BEANB R EHRE
subsidiary (iif) 1,749 2,677
Management fee income B EEZER AR WES
from the immediate holding ~ BEIE&UTA
company (iv) 1,676 1,754
Notes: Wit
(i) Details of the loan to an associate are set out in (i) HEEATIRHNEH

note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

(i) The sales to a fellow subsidiary are determined

between the Group and the fellow subsidiary.

(iii) The purchase from a fellow subsidiary is determined

between the Group and the fellow subsidiary.

(iv) The management fee income from the immediate

holding company is determined between the Group

and the immediate holding company.

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

BRI EESMBREMEET7 -

BRERNEBARMEHEE
HARRWBABEE

BERANBEADRBRAANE
HARRWBRABETE

BEER AR KRERNER
BWABRAERRFBER
ABEE
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. RARS (&
(continued)
(b)  Outstanding balances with related parties: (b)y AR SHREEER

(i) Details of the Group’s balances with an (i) KEBHABZ AR 2 &
associate are disclosed in note 17 to the BRHNEBRENGA
consolidated financial statements. BHRMEE17 -

(i) Details of the Group’s balances with (i) KEFHEPBETERAT
an intermediate holding company are ZERNFEREENS
disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated B BIRRMEE25
financial statements.

(ily  Details of the Group's balances with iy ANEEHEBRHFBAD
fellow subsidiaries are disclosed in notes ZHEBHNEBRERE
22 and 25 to the consolidated financial B BIRRMN 225250
statements.

(c)  Compensation of key management personnel of (0 HEEFTESEEBMEZRHN
the Group:

2024 2023

—EmE —ET=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Short term employee benefits HEEEN 2,076 2,635

Post-employment benefits EABEN 29 36

Total compensation paid to key SN FTEESEEREZ

management personnel HwBNAEZR 2,105 2,671

Further details of directors’ emoluments are
included in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The sale of products in respect of item (a)(ii) above also
constitutes continuing connected transactions as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

ESMEE—DHBEHNG
B BEHRWEES

885 5 1 X2(a) (1) B 7 B 0 28 ST A
ETRAIE 1 4AB T R E M E R
25
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 37.

CATEGORY
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The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

2024

Financial assets

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H
EMT AR

RESHR SEZERITARE
BUT:

—T-mE
MHBEE
Financial
assets at
Financial fair value
assets at  through other

amortised comprehensive

cost income Total
BATE
BEBHERE HAHM
iRz PEWEZ
HBEE HEE A
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Equity investments designated at fair value BAFESAHMZEREZ
through other comprehensive income RAKE - 2,331 2,331
Trade receivables e B 5 iR 123,776 - 123,776
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary EWREZNBATIE 15,830 - 15,830
Financial assets included in prepayments, HABMRIE BER
deposits and other receivables HEWIRSNE BEE 28,479 - 28,479
Time deposits THER 555,940 - 555,940
Cash and cash equivalents RehReEEY 243,518 - 243,518
967,543 2,331 969,874
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37.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

2024 (continued)

Financial liabilities

37. EMIASHE @

—ENEF B

MEaR

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
BBEm A
SiRZ
BaR
HK$’000
FET

Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Amount due to an intermediate holding company

PR B 5 IR
HiE AR ESER
e R R R A B IR

131,868
128,530
24,639

285,037
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 37. EMIARNEE &
CATEGORY (continued)
2023 =
Financial assets IIEEE
Financial
assets at
Financial fair value

assets at  through other

amortised comprehensive
cost income Total

BATE

REBHEN A STAHM

iRz REUEZ
MHEEE MHEE el
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET

Equity investments designated at fair value BATEst A2 ERE 2

through other comprehensive income BAKE - 2,343 2,343
Trade receivables ) 129,444 - 129,444
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary EWRZKITBARRIE 6,957 = 6,957
Loan to an associate REE LS RENER 7,158 = 7,158
Financial assets included in prepayments, HABRMREBE - BER

deposits and other receivables HitBUWERT NG REE 33,132 = 33,132
Time deposits EHEX 628,863 = 628,863
Cash and cash equivalents ReRELEEY 246,417 = 246,417

1,051,971 2,343 1,054,314
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37.

38.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 37. ®RMITASHE (&
CATEGORY (continued)
2023 (continued) —EI=F B
Financial liabilities MBaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
B R A
)y
MHEaR
HK$'000
FET
Trade payables BB SRR 140,790
Other payables and accruals HMEN R R ESHE B 149,446
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary FERNREARKE AR RIE 272
Amount due to an intermediate holding company  FE{J 1 RIIZERR A T 7B 25,117
315,625

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income, trade receivables, balances
with fellow subsidiaries and an intermediate holding
company, loan to an associate, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, time
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

38.

EHMIAZATFERAFEFR
HE

EEECHERAFESAREMER
Wiz lRAKRE  BIRE 7R HF
ANBREKRTBERRAB ZEEH
MBEQDRBVER  FARMTM
E-BEhHEMBUERRNMBEE
EHER - RERREEEY BHE
ZERM AR MBARRRESE
BHMBaEz ATELAHKEER
A ETEHRZETANEHRBRAR-

WBEERBRZATESABRE (M

FREHFEHE) RBLHTNERR
SHRAEMTIARZEEA-
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 38. EMIAZATERAFESFR
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL HE &)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The following methods and assumptions were used to MTFAERBRARGTRAFES
estimate the fair values of financial assets measured at EMBEENATE
fair value:
The Group invested in certain unlisted equity. The Group AEEREETHELTRA KAER
has estimated the fair value of these unlisted equity with 2R SGNETEMZEIEL
reference to the issued prices of recent transactions with MERANAFE L2BRFRRER
reference to discounted cash flow method. EAMEtIE LT EBREEN LR TFE-
Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs MTFARZIE_NERZIZZ=F
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a +ZB=+—H %mﬁlﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ% B
quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 BEATEEREABIBRERTE 28R
and 2023: EZDHHE :
Significant Sensitivity of
Valuation technique  unobservable input Range fair value to the input
fh (BBl EXFUHZHAYE #E BAYBATENHRE
Unlisted equity investments Market approach Issued prices of recent HK$40 to 1% (2023: 1%) increase/
transactions HK$1,422 decrease in issued prices
(2023: HK$40 of recent transactions
to HK$282) would result in increase/
per share decrease in fair value
by HK$23,000 (2023:
HK$23,000)
FLMmEARE 5% AR ZNETE BRAERE EHRZNETEEN/

1,42287T % (CE2Z=F:

(CEZz&: 1%) REHATE
L0BTE 120,023,000 7T
282757T) (CBZ=F:

23,000 7T)
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 38.

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value
measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial
instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

THMITAZATFERATESR
HE &)

DT EER

TRITAEEESRMTANRFES
EREM®K

B TFEEEE
Fair value measurement using

AFEHEER

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EAXTHE EXFTHE

ERTREE BARE BAYE

(%) (ot ) (B=%) CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FE7 FE7 AT

As at 31 December 2024 RZE-ZME+ZB=+—-H

Equity investments designated at fair value BATESAEMZARGE 2 RERE

through other comprehensive income - - 2,331 2,331
As at 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+_"A=+—H
Equity investments designated at fair value BATESAEMEZERG 2 RAKE

through other comprehensive income - - 2,343 2,343

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for financial assets (2023:
Nil).

FR WMBEENATESAELER
B—MKRBE_MRZEER > FEEA
HBHE=MRCE=ZF 18-
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 38. EMIAZATERATEESR
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL HE &)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level FRCBFZRAFENENEENT :
3 during the year are as follows:
2024 2023
—EUE =
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Unlisted equity investments ELHRERE
At 1 January w—A—H 2,343 390
Converted from debt investment BBEERRE - 1,953
Exchange realignment R A (12) -
At 31 December N+_B=+—H 2,331 2,343

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured
at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

N CECNER_E=F£+"A1
Z+—HB AERTELARATFE
AENMEEE.
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
lease liabilities, cash and cash equivalents and
time deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities, such as trade and other receivables and
trade and other payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

As most of the Group’s business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the operating units, the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency risk is minimal.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

39.

MBREEREBEERBE

FEENTESHIEOEHEESR
ERENBEEBYRTERENR Z
EETMIENTEZARERERAETERN
EERHEMR - AEBTERSKNE
thHBEEREGR  HIMEWEZ IR
R EL A FE U BR R FE Y B 5 BR R
REMEMER HEEAEEME
Ao

FEENERIAMEENETEZRAR
EAMNE RS 5 8RR EOR BN AR
ARBEFGEERIMEEEILSE
R B EER > AR R o

5 BE LA

HRAEENABIEZ RS EE
REEATENEEBEUZEER
K55 0 A I A 5 B P K 2 B9 O BE L BR
e

B

AERERERTHNREERTFHE
ZHETRB - FEBNBREFRE
BERECTGERZNEROBBEBE
BRI -BE cEEFEEERRE
W BR TR BY A5 B 0 A IR AR Y B B2 36
EXe
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. MBEKREEBIEREEK &
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) 8RR @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RSO R FEASIEER
The tables below show the credit quality and the TRIRENRAEEGERRK ZEE
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's BEkeaEEREHMO ZEEK
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due RFEERTZA=1+—HZBEHEN
information unless other information is available without BRIFHMERERENHAIMLER
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification AHBAOTEIAIER) RFAREED
as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross o2V cRAMBEE ZIREAR
carrying amounts for financial assets. Be
31 December 2024 —F_mE+-RA=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 B FEHA
=858 2HEREEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
- BB BB BEA % At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET FAT FAT FAET
Trade receivables* FE Wt B 5 AR 7+ - - - 130,540 130,540
Contract assets* BNEE* - - - 8,853 8,853
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary* FEUR[E % M & A B FE* - - = 18,398 18,398
Financial assets included in SFABMTE e REM
prepayments, deposits and YRR NHBEE
other receivables
- Normal** S 28,479 - - - 28,479
- Doubtful** — A g+ - - 13,610 - 13,610
Time deposits EHER 555,940 - - - 555,940
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY
- Not yet past due — i RmH 243,518 - - - 243,518
827,937 - 13,610 157,791 999,338
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(continued)

HEBEREERRREE (&

EEERE &)

RE A ORFHLER (5

31 December 2023 —E=F+Z“HA=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1285 &M
FEBE 2HRPEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—MEE EIMEE EME 1A% ast
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FErT
Trade receivables* eI E 58K - - - 136,103 136,103
Contract assets* BEHNEE" = s = 24,187 24,187
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary* FEUX[E % i B A 5 FUIE* - - = 6,957 6,957
Loan to an associate — Normal** SR ERENER -
g+ 7,158 - - - 7,158
Financial assets included in SABMRIE BEREHM
prepayments, deposits and other EUERTNI B EE
receivables
- Normal** S 33,132 - - - 33,132
- Doubtful** — g - - 13,849 - 13,849
Time deposits EHER 628,863 - - - 628,863
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY
- Not yet past due — e K HA 246,417 - - = 246,417
915,570 - 13,849 167,247 1,096,666
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

(continued)

*

* %

For trade receivables, contract assets and amount due
from a fellow subsidiary which is trade receivable in nature
to which the Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment, information is disclosed in notes 20, 21 and 22
to the consolidated financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, and loan to
an associate is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using

a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the

maturity of both its financial instruments and financial

assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows

from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between

continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of

bank loans and loans from a fellow subsidiary and an

intermediate holding company. The Group’s policy is to

minimise borrowings.

39.

31 December 2024 — 2 -MF+_F=+—H

HEBEREERRREE (&

EEEE &)
REEBEHORFHER ()

* MAEERABCRESZZBEE
PRF - ENEERBRKREZ KRR
MENBRRAANBARDREMS
ERENRENGAMBRERWE
2021220

*x TR IR 12 5 K E At B8 WAR R
NP BEEBRRRBHEQARRMNE
RNEEARNAKRBHELEER K
BENSEILCRMBEEZEER
BARIRIB R R (ER) - BR
BEEZEEERGRMRAAIER -

TR

FEBFMBEEERSRE TAEE
ExERER - ZITRAEEEMIA
RUHEE (WEWE IR BIEIH
ARhEEEENRAFREME

FEBNERDEEBNBIRTER
RERBBREMBABDKTBIERAF
ZER UREBRENFEENE R
M BY S 5 o 7 5 [ BY UK 7 A 18 R

ERfR-
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities

as at the end of the reporting period, based on the

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

39. HMBEMEEBRREE @)

EERRE (&
B E (E

RBERR ZEBERBITNER
TRARZMBREEERHBERAOT -

2024 —E-mE
Less than 3 to less than 1to5 Over

On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total

=F
RERE DREZ@EA LR+ ZfER —Eif BENE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Amount due to an intermediate holding company FEfS PR A BIFE 24,639 - - - - 24,639
Trade payables NS - 131,868 - - - 131,868
Other payables and accruals HitE R B A 37,844 90,686 - - - 128,530
Lease liabilities HEaE - 5,213 15,741 84,558 352,315 457,827
62,483 221,767 15,741 84,558 352,315 742,864

2023 -

Less than 3 to less than
On demand 3 months 12 months 1to 5 years Over 5 years Total

=F
RERE LR=M@EA LR+ EAR —ZRF RENR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FET FET FET
Amount due to an intermediate holding company PSRRI ER AR TIE 25,117 - - - - 25,117
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary R RANBARNE 272 - - - - 272
Trade payables FEfT B SRR = 140,790 S = 5 140,790
Other payables and accruals HitEMETREAER 38,696 110,750 - - - 149,446
Lease liabilities HEaE S 5,235 15,032 77,311 374,190 471,768
64,085 256,775 15,032 77,311 374,190 787,393
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. MBRMEEBERBE &
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) E8RAME &)
Capital management =¢y=§:]
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital AEESEAEENEEEE  AHERF
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to AEBAEBREERENE S BER
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy RENEARLLER UEZFHEREFE
capital ratios in order to support its business and BRERIERAERE
maximise shareholders’ value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes AEBRBEEBLINEE KEHE
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic ENRBEFE EBEHERGEHBILF
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying HARE AT UARABRERGEE A&
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the BT RAEARIIRENKE B
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, RBRBREIERNFITHMR - AEET
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The EXHINEMIIBHEMzE LT K
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital BHE_Z-_NMER-_ZEZ=F+TAH
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, =+ HIEFE - BEXABEZEE K
policies or processes for managing capital during the KNI HEE o
years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which AEERBEABBEXREREEARS
is the interest-bearing debts, including lease liabilities, o MEBEXRBEXRTS UG EER (B
divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company HEaR MUEAREHEB AEGER
plus the interest-bearing debts. st BEH 2 Mt E o
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods RBERFRNERGEZNT
were as follows:
2024 2023
—EmE - 3
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET
Lease liabilities HE&E 288,591 289,348
Interest-bearing debts STEEH 288,591 289,348
Total equity AR 2,979,137 2,995,461
Total equity plus the MR E BER
interest-bearing debts 3,267,728 3,284,809
Gearing ratio EZN=LEES 8.8% 8.8%
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40.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. Z2TEMIERRAER
THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position ERAAB RN REMERNTHERIRE
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as HEREIUWT :
follows:
2024 2023
—E-NE -
HK$’000 HK$000
F#ET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEREE 112,379 117,076
Investments in subsidiaries RB AT ZKE 111,514 136,686
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG EE] 2,350,149 2,369,433
Total non-current assets FEREEELE 2,574,042 2,623,195
CURRENT ASSETS MEHE E
Prepayments, deposits and BNRE - EER
other receivables HfhFE W BR 3X 6,117 9,428
Time deposits EHTER 392,494 465,537
Cash and cash equivalents BEeRIBEEEEY 38,408 2,270
Total current assets MEEERE 437,019 477,235
CURRENT LIABILITIES Bt R=RE
Other payables and accruals HEMNRARESER 3,408 3,435
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI ENGIE /8] - 3,607
Total current liabilities MR ERE 3,408 7,042
NET CURRENT ASSETS MMEERE 433,611 470,193
Net assets BEEZRE 3,007,653 3,093,388
EQUITY g
Share capital (RN 930,337 930,337
Reserves (note) & (i at) 2,077,316 2,163,051
Total equity 4BRE T 3,007,653 3,093,388
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. Z2TMBRAR &
THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: MIsE :
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: NABMRBRIARMT ¢
Retained
Share Asset profits/
premium revaluation  Contributed (accumulated
account reserve surplus losses) Total
B
RIVEEERE BAEEGMHE BARR (RTEEE) CEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 RZB-=£—B—A 1,857,729 130,615 5,243 (18,631) 1,974,956
Profit and total comprehensive REGHR2ER R
income for the year ks - - - 188,095 188,095
At 31 December 2023 and R_EZ=F
1 January 2024 +ZB=+-Hk
“E-mE—-BA—H 1,857,729 130,615 5,243 169,464 2,163,051
Loss and total comprehensive loss rEBEREERE
for the year ke - - - (39,218) (39,218)
2023 final dividend paid BRI R =FKH
R - - - (46,517) (46,517)
At 31 December 2024 RZB2ZME
+-BA=+—H 1,857,729 130,615 5,243 83,729 2,077,316
The contributed surplus of the Company represents ARBZHABRBEAERATREER
the excess of the consolidated net asset value of Far E4HWEFar East Aluminium (B.V.1.)
East Aluminium (B.V.l.) Limited on 20 November 1991, Limited B9 2 8F B 2% 17 B AN BF > 52 Y /B8
when its entire issued share capital was acquired by ARBER—NWh—F+—RBIZ+HZE
the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation, over CEEFEBAFSRBAREMET
the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued in ZRONEEZEZE LEMNRRBE
consideration for such acquisition, net of accumulated FERBEZARADRBHEE -RER
losses of the Company set off in the prior years. Under RE-NMN—FREE FREIZH
the Companies Act of 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed ABHEETERTIEHD KT SR
surplus of the Company is distributable to shareholders Re
under certain circumstances.
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 41. BIBHmRZHLE
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved HEMBREENR_F-AF=H

and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28
March 2025.

THN\HEEFEHAERRETHE-
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY A S iZHE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified
as appropriate, is set out below. This summary is not part of the
audited financial statements.

FEEBELEMBEENXEREENE
BRANT HEEEETEEERHYBR
ROWEBFBEEY EMSE - LEHET
FFEBRMBRERNID -

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+-—HLEEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-mME —E-=f —ZE--F “BEI-F ZEIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET F#ET FHET
RESULTS ¥
Revenue & 1,805,382 1,830,186 1,665,515 1,416,409 1,246,809
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX IRHAET (518) 68,096 90,703 27,265 (24,790)  (808,530)
Income tax credit/(expense) FismER/ ) (12,086) 71,506 23,567 (31,182) 51,792
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FEHH, (FE) 56,010 162,209 50,832 (55,972) (756,738)
Attributable to: TH AL
Owners of the Company AAEIMEE 56,010 162,209 50,832 (55,972)  (756,738)
As at 31 December
®+=ZB=+—-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_MNE —Z-=-f E_"f T C"ET°EEF
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET F#ET FAET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Total assets BEMBE 3,954,295 3,979,064 3,799,848 3,763,258 4,178,556
Total liabilities aRMEE (975,158) (983,603) (980,957) (978,797)  (1,332,416)
2,979,137  2,995461 2,818,891 2,784,461 2,846,140
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AFEH
LEGAL ADVISER

CLKW Lawyers LLP

Rooms 1901A, 1902 & 1902A, 19/F.

New World Tower |, 16-18 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS

Unit B, 15th Floor, United Centre
95 Queensway, Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRARS
Principal registrars

Appleby Global Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street

PO Box HM 1179

Hamilton HM EX

Bermuda

Hong Kong registrars

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.cath.com.hk

STOCK CODE
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Appleby Global Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street

PO Box HM 1179

Hamilton HM EX
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